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PART ONE
  INTRO
   

  February, 14th
  It was a long time since I've last seen her.
  When I met Barbara, that Tuesday in February, in the waiting room of one Town-hall Office, where I spent at least two mornings a week. I had to submit a preliminary draft for a development plan, great on proposals to develop and investment.
  I had appointed this gentleman, because for the choice he had to decide between outsource to me or a colleague. He chose to work with me because he had worked with the other one: not knowing me, he preferred to risk with me that to play with my contender. He had no doubts. He called me and we arranged a meeting. The first thing I asked him was why the selection and he explained why: he was sure he ran less risk by relying on those who did not know.
  The project is large, prestigious, feasible in the medium term, political and bureaucratic permitting.
  Technical and professional, with my engineering company, we are up to the task and I got that I could take care of the engineering of the entire project, which is company's core business.
  That morning, I had an appointment with Rosanna Campana, an executive of the Service that deals with these things. We had worked together in the studio of Genova of a Milanese architect, with offices in Genova and Milan.
  After working for a company in Milan, for almost three years, in Naples, I went to work in the study of the architect Venanzio Guidi, a Milanese, great manager. He was superstitious to the point that when he had to catch a plane to upset the hoped "good trip, Architect" and he went hungry. He was divorced and his second wife had so much pomposity that when she left the studio, she was always waiting at the door for someone to open it to her.
  Rosanna, after the owner, in the studio, was the second one, after a colleague, Amalia, good, professional, centralized, despotic and hateful. She was unpleasant to everyone but herself, rather she made it unpleasant to feel stronger.
  Rosanna is completely on another site: now as then, a simple woman, no makeup, radiant, always calm, kind, courteous, never a tone of voice over the top.
  And there I have fallen completely in love with her.
  I had my job, I developed a couple of projects for intervention in Algeria on behalf of a public company and Rosanna did her job, that we didn't go one over the other. For that work I asked Amalia the help of a hear friend, Roberta, whom I had met in the first year of university.
   

  The owner of the studio, Venanzio Guidi, was commissioned for the project of a prison for the recovery of individuals not included at all in community. Rosanna took over control of the project, Amalia was maintaining relations with clients. I entrusted New Joints and Direction departments.
  It was a new thing (how many people design a jail?), with a lot of rules for internal security that affect the design, both for the architecture for both structures.
  In the projects I designed the facades with the clouds, which was absolutely new (it was the '80s) and that in the study no one had imagined. To put things right, Amalia had said they were ridiculous, for Guidi they went very well. Amalia was foaming. This time the applause was louder, but I am convinced that it was also for Guidi.
  Rosanna made the rounds of the tables twice a day. And mine one was always the last one, because it was the closest to the door of the studio where he worked.
  I left the stool and discussed on the boards that were on the drawing board and on the stand, to see where we were and to decide how to move forward.
  After three years of collaboration with the studio and in the midst of a crush on Rosanna, who had neither the present nor the future, I have gone.
  To stay with Rosanna, simple and charming, I liked it, I did everything to stay as far as possible with her. One evening, one of those who passed in the office after dinner, to meet deadlines, late into the night, I took her home, on the heights of Genoa. A place so out of hand, even in the city, I asked her what kind of eagle she took to come to the office.
  On the way I was tempted to tell her how I lived our friendship, how I felt.
  The temptation was very strong.
  Arrived in front of her house, we said, "Good night, see you tomorrow", and I left.
   

  On the way home, I miss a crossroad and I did a very long ride, in the glamour of Genova at night. It had just stopped raining. The lights were reflected on the road, wherethe roll of wet tires resounded.
  Porto, Old Town, street prostitutes, Italia Boulevard.
  I had decided. The day after Guidi was not there, he was in Milan, and otherwise I would have resigned immediately.
  After two days I went to Rosanna with the soundtrack of the film "A woman in red", in hand, which contained "I've just called to say I love you" by Stevie Wonder.
  <<Rosanna, I leave the study>>.
  <<What?!?>>.
  <<I have a problem with someone in here and don’t want to make it bigger than it is>>.
  <<It’s not about Amalia>>.
  <<And even Guidi>>.
  <<I don’t understand, in short, stay>>.
  <<No, Rosanna, I cannot. I should deal with the problem and solve it. Change your life. If I do so I don’thurt anyone. Believe me, I'm sorry, very>>.
  <<Graziano, don’t go, things change, you never know!>>.
  <<Roxanne, or change today, tomorrow, or I'm leaving now>>.
  I had the impression that she understood.
  <<Don’t go, it takes some time>>.
  <<Rosanna, bye>>, and we kissed, long.
  The next day I was by Guidi and at the end of the year I left the study. With Rosanna nothing had changed. I was in love, she was always kind, but nothing has changed. I left and just and just it was.
   

  Barbara Greco is a colleague five years younger than me, graduated in Genoa: when I saw her for the first time, I was in the fifth year, she at first. We never attended, nor to study before, nor to work, then, nor for ever more. It was a friendship, how can I explain, contiguity. We went to the same place, a university faculty, with hundreds of attendees, the same hours. Then they presented, at the bar, in the funds of the building, and we said the usual things: "Yes, I saw you", "it is that we pass a little", "in what year were You", " have You this examination given? "; we found we had the same tastes (to music no, she was fan of disco music, I hate it), sometimes we went away from the faculty together.
  She was really a nice girl, and, by the use of the graduates go to see the freshmen girls, she was a gorgeous presence. I did not go often to do the examination of freshmen. Before I was engaged, then married, then I had other fish to fry, especially when my daughter Cristiana was born.
  The day of my thesis, to help me there were her and a colleague, Lucio Santi. We lay the drawings on the tables of the classroom, placed the model, a marvel of wood, brass and lexan! The project was not an architectural masterpiece, but I did it to finish school and go (again) out of my house. Not for my Mother and my Father or my brother, no, only for me.
  After the thesis I met Barbara 10 years later, at a party: she was alone, I was with my second wife, I presented them. Barbara was still beautiful, I could remember how.
  <<What are you doing here?>>.
  <<I’m going’ to Rosanna Campana for an estate plan. Think, here we have never met. You, what do you do?>>.
  <<I go to the Councillor, in five minutes>>.
  <<Good luck. I, the last time, waited nearly an hour>>.
  <<Architect Farni?>>.
  <<I go, see you later, come on, I'll finish surely before You>>.
  <<OK, see You after>>.
  The meeting with Rosanna was as always at the highest professional level, but not cold. Indeed. Rosanna, since the time at Guidi’s, has changed her look, her hair is a coppery red, but she is in great
  shape. Simple as always, and charming as ever. The charm, even after twenty years, is intact.
   

  <<If everybody were to discuss projects as you do, I would work less!>>.
  I am here with drawings, photographs, diagrams, reports and rules of the Master Plan, as I used habitually. Having to meet her, I had spent a little more.
  Rosanna appreciate these things, her colleagues in the administration did not even notice.
  The meeting ends with the usual hug, usually the longest hug of an embrace between two colleagues and between two simple friends.
  <<You look okay with the hat! See you?>>.
  <<Sure, see you soon, good luck!>>.
  I don’t know why but one day I realized that I conclude greetings always with "good luck".
  I go to the top floor, and the Councillor secretary tells me that Barbara has just entered.
  <<Have a seat>>.
  <<Thanks>>.
  I sit and wait, and put in place my documents.
  When someone open the Councillor office door, I greet him and see Barbara's face distorted by a grimace of anger mixed with disappointment. When turning, after greeting the Councillor, her face lights up.
  <<Do we go?>>.
  <<Of course, again, Professor>>: he is also a university professor.
  <<How did it go?>>.
  She darkens and bows her head.
  <<Not good, certainly better than bad, but I was expecting more enthusiasm for an investment that affects the entire city. Tourism, work, trade, image. Nothing. Not commented well at all>>.
  <<His son?>>.
  <<I go there today. I ask him if he wants to join the design team>>.
  <<Strategically it is a smart move>>.
  <<I know>>.
  We arrive at the ground floor and we put scarves and hats. Outside a northern wind blows cold and sharp. I have to keep the hat. The Barbara hair is upset by the force of the wind.
  <<Now what do you do?>>.
  <<I'm in the office. See you tonight?>>.
  <<Why not?>>.
  <<Let's eat the cheese focaccia in Recco>>.
  <<Perfect, I'm not going there since a lot of time!>>.
  <<I'll pick You at seven thirty>>.
  <<Come on, tonight, I'm home>> and she gives me the address.
  I spent the afternoon on a chat to speak with my client and with his charge of real estate transactions (one in Milan and the other in Genova) about the meeting with Rosanna, we testify a cautious optimism. This task is very important, for me a very respectable job, a great result. Ice prepared a report, a report on the meeting and gave it to ride on the chat. We continue to discuss the upcoming activities and how to program them.
  I prepare a table with the times and the methods and with the professionals involved in his role and the ride to the operations manager. With the investor I would like to talk about fees. He called immediately. His name is Biagio Fogli, a sort of King Midas of brick, with whom he made his fortune. He has not even moved knowing that it is difficult to make investments in Liguria, in Genoa, even impossible.
  Mr Fogli, however, asked me, as long as possible to let Alessandro, my engineer company president, out. I asked him why and he explained it to me. And so far I have not involved, although the name of Alessandro is the first of the design team.
  <<Farni, fix me a meeting with Arch. Campana!>>.
  <<Mr Fogli, without anything different from what she saw today, it is useless. It takes something more, detailed wiring diagrams, tables, calculating the expense, the standards, and a time schedule>>.
  <<What do you need?>>.
  <<The task which involve the company and a contract with You>>.
  <<Don’t just you do?>>.
  <<Yes, I can do, but it would be better if You would agree to commit more resources and more expertise, another architect and a plant engineer for alternative energies>>.
  <<All right. Send me an economic framework for technical costs, on the basis of investment, and deadlines. So I can do my financial plan>>.
  I had already prepared, with Mauro, one of the members.
  <<Give me three days, and send it to you..>>
  <<Send me the notice of fee for the previous ones>>.
  <<Now, I print and start the draft bill by fax>>.
  I hear footsteps and paper rustling.
  <<Well, I send a copy of the warrant>> 
  <<Good evening>>.
  <<Hi>>.
  It’s seven o 'clock. I close everything and go out to fetch Barbara home.
  I ring the intercom and Barbara tells me to go up. I had to buy a few things and I tell her I look around.
  Barbara comes with a grey suit with shoes clear, no bag. I have a black velvet dress with vest and boots. We start around Recco. In the car we talk about work.
  <<I was with Councillor son. He told me that his father advised him to stay out of that initiative>>.
  <<What?>>.
  <<That's right>>.
  <<Are you telling me that between this morning and this afternoon they talked and?>>.
  <<I don’t know when, I took the appointment with the child yesterday, so they could not talk about it beforeyesterday. Of course, the Councillor doesn't fit anything. I don’t know if it is something by him or something that someone has suggested. You know, he may have spoken to anyone of this thing and have had indications of any kind>>.
  <<In any case he doesn't want to be involved, even indirectly, to not have to go against his son>>.
  <<I don’t know, of course the role of the son would not be marginal>>.
  <<So instead it is off the edge!>>.
  We arrived in Recco, which, according to Francesco De Gregori for Genova, has a deadly junction, very
  long!
  We go to the centre, along the river. After the bridge under the Aurelia, I turn left.
  <<It is closed!>>.
  <<Let's go somewhere else>>.
  <<No, I don’t like, let's go to my house! We arrange. I no longer want to stand around>>.
  The Councillor and his son story has not been digested.
  <<Do we pass below?>>.
  <<Yes, there is no hurry, no?>>.
  <<No, no hurry>>.
  I haven’t often seen the coast between Genova and Recco and Aurelia at night, tonight the moon is really
  pretty high.
  We arrive at Barbara’s, in Vernazzola. I park a few meters from the door and climb a narrow stairway, typical of the houses near the sea, to the third floor.
  The house is very nice, from the windows you can see a panorama scream. There is also a terrace on the sea.
  <<The bathroom is there. Wait>>, and she rolls a towel. White.
  <<Use this>>.
  <<What are you preparing?>>.
  <<Do we arrange?>>.
  <<Yes, but for what? Pasta?>>.
  <<Yes>>.
  <<Tomato, garlic, oil and hot peppers, pesto, anchovies?>>.
  <<All together?!?!?>>.
  <<Dumb!>> And she laughs, for the first time, she laughs.
  <<Don’t you dare: pesto and tomato sauce, I could die>>.
  <<I don’t provoke! Listen, I don’t remember where I ate, but they brought me a pasta with pesto and tomato, I do that>>.
  I feel a shiver slipping down my spine. Mauro says, I’m a conservative but I don’t like mixture like this.<<How hungry are you?>>.
  After breakfast, at nine, I didn't eat anything, because I don’t like to eat alone, I'm hungry from 2.00 pm
  <<Normal>>.
  <<Penne, rigatoni, spaghetti?>>.
  <<All together?>>.
  <<Again?>>.
  <<Why, do You think I went away?>>.
  <<Rigatoni, that’s. Grate the cheese, please, it is in the refrigerator and the grater in the cabinet
  alongside>>.
  An electric grater that churns out snow, not grated cheese.
  <<Do You, please, open the wine? White one is in the refrigerator>>.
  <<Yes>>.
  I felt like I had already been here, but I didn't understand why I could not remember where things are.<<Fill two glasses, on your back there>>.
  Can I do it on an empty stomach?
  Barbara bends behind the peninsula that divides the room from the rest of the kitchen, and reappears with a glass in hand, half empty of peanuts. It’s better.
  A toast to our initiatives, fishing, with both hands, into the jar.
  <<Why don’t we eat here?>>.
  <<In the kitchen? No!>>.
  <<Come on, let it be, two mats and go!>>.
  <<Whatever. The dishes are down there, cutlery over>>.
  The colour of the sauce is horrible: Barbara dissolved the pesto with the cooking water, then added the sauce. Try mixing green and red, try!
  Now the trouble is done!
  Barbara drains the pasta, she drains it well then pours into the pot, where there is that unmentionable colour thing, which is invested by rigatoni smoking.
  We sit on perches and five minutes later I regret: they are awful!
   

  <<Nothing to say?>>.
  <<I thought worse, but It is good, cooked right. The dressing is particularly>>.
  <<If I put less cheese!>>.
  Usually I cover the dough with a layer of cheese, I clean and then cover it again.
  <<Without cheese pasta, any pasta, is bare, it is essential!>>.
  <<Yes, but you eat the cheese with the pasta, not the pasta!>>.
  <<And then? Be careful not to put me to eat it from the form, you have already put away?>>.
  <<No, eat all you want. Who are you now with?>>.
  I hear another shiver going down my spine, longer. I was not there to hear questions like that.
  <<With no one, with the policy I quitted years ago, I have just taken up with the Union>>.
  <<This is not an answer to my question, or do You go around?>>.
  <<Sorry, no, I'm not with anyone. I closed three years ago with the second marriage and I have nothing of my own. I live just at all>>.
  <<I'm alone, since a long time. Since the marriage with Luciano Canepa ended, I came to live here, in my parents' house. When there’s a cat passing on the terrace floor, with any face, then I go melancholy. Thinking about the good times we had with Luciano and what I did. And fortunately, for me, things were working very well. I will never put it on with a colleague again>>.
  If I had something in mind, et voila, It is gone away! Luckily I did not think anything!
  <<You know, at my age and in our business, is not easy. I am a house girl, after work, jeans, flip-flops, television or books. I don’t go to places for singles>>.
  <<In Genova, it would be difficult>>.
  <<Don’t believe it. Well, in places for single, everyone goes searching for adventures, even non-single. I don’t know if you say so!>>.
  <<So do you know them?>>.
  <<Well, there I was, some certain places>>.
  <<You know that place! I prefer the cats on roofs or on the terrace!>>.
  <<C’mon, take the pineapple!>>.
  And she shows me the terrace, as she gets up.
  On the terrace the view is breath-taking. The night is very clear. The moon lights up the horizon and you see the separation between sea and sky. The light strip of the reflection of the moon starts from horizon down to the beach, fifty meters from the house.
  <<Barbara, come and see>>.
  <<Here I am. Look how wonderful it is. I'm used to, but It is always wonderful. The sunsets in the summer are always breath-taking. Then, as Kant said, here you understand the difference between beautiful and sublime. Do you know?>>.
  <<Hey, are You joking me? I don’t know whether that of Kant, however, the sea is beautiful, sublime is the stormy sea. Stillness and movement, calm and anger, life and death>>.
  <<Are you okay? Is something going wrong? Now I understand: the wine!>>.
  <<No, what wine, you’re provoking me!>>.
  <<Do I?>>.
  <<Yes, I do think so>>.
  <<Come home, honey, we are in February, I'm cold!>>.
  I clean the pineapple and cut it into slices. Now I've learned the place of things. She takes two glasses.
  <<Grappa or whiskey?>>.
  <<Whisky, I take the ice>>.
  <<For me too>>.
  Now the kitchen has no more secrets. I put the ice in a glass and fill it up halfway.
  <<You?>>.
  <<Same>>. It pours the liquor up to half.
  We drink, again, a toast at the two of us. A good whiskey, very good.
  <<I put in place, go there and choose a DVD>>.
  <<I go>>.
  In the living room there is a magnificent sofa in blue cloth, with huge pillows. It gives the idea of being
  comfortable. In the library there is an incredible number of DVDS. I pull a little out of the row, five or six movies, to leave her the choice.
  I sit on the couch and take the city newspaper, I don’t buy that since 10 years. I start to read, about the third murder of a girl, a week earlier, in the district of Albaro. The other two were killed in S. Martino and Borgoratti: detectives navigate in total darkness, the girls don’t have connections, you know, the murder sites are far apart, there are no grounds. They have in common only the bleached blonde hair. Paper says maybe a serial killer's moving around the city. 
  I move, slipping on the comfort of the sofa in blue cloth and I lean on an armrest.
   

  August 15, 1970, I was invited to a party at Castellaneta Marina and I invited Livia del Prete. Livia lived in Bari and went to the beach in Castellaneta, and stand, along with her sister, near the place where we went with my mother and the group of friends from Genova, who also had their home there. Livia, who was visiting her sister, studied law and was a sophomore. Her hair was black shoulder-length, on the face it ended in a point, exactly in the middle. I never forgot that bit (shallow, careful!). In the morning we saw the beach and had become friends.
  Livia had accepted the invitation without batting an eye and I was happy because going to a party alone was not beautiful. Livia was twenty-one, I was not sixteen yet.
  At nine o'clock I went to the house of her Swedish brother in law and we went to the house where the party was. The house belonged to a family of Bari middle-class and celebrated the birthday of one of the children. When we arrived at the gate, I see a lot of people: at home, in the garden, on the terrace. Incredible, the sound of music is heard from the street.
  <<Livia, you've got your bathing suit?>>.
  <<Yes, why?>>.
  <<Let's go to the beach and go back here later. Too much people there!>>.
  <<Come on, swimming in the evening? Beautiful!>>.
  I didn't really think about the bath, but why not. I was there with no ulterior reasons, I would have tried, but I don’t know how, where and why. I did not expect anything.
  We arrive on the boardwalk, I go to the usual place and put the bike behind the brick low wall. When we go to the beach we collect sticks to make a fire, a light signal. I was told that at night, in the sea, you can lose orientation. This would justify the Lantern lighthouse of Genova and the rest of the lighthouses in the world, but doesn't explain a fire on a beach with the lights of the waterfront, except in case of power failure suddenly and continued. However, we light the fire, we take off pants, and lit a cigarette, and we go for a walk on the shore.
  <<It is too early to take a bath, wait half an hour>>.
  I doubt that, including dip and drying, the party will see us. But, anyway, I don’t give anything. I've closed a relationship with a classmate in Portici, I was free, and I would have tried, right?
  The night is very clear. The moon illuminates the horizon and you could see the separation between sea and sky. The light strip of the reflection of the moon comes until the beach.
  We sit on the towels and chat, without malice.
  <<Come on?>>.
  <<Come on!>> And takes off her shirt: under there’s nothing!
  <<Run!>>, she rushes towards the water and dives. I rest like a jerk to look out after the plunge, and when
  she turns to me, I run on to the sea and I dive. I get out from water near her, she splashes and laughs. She swims out to sea and, worried (the year before, with Paul, we saved a classmate, in Paestum, a likely drowning, because she was not so much an expert), I try to follow her, that swims very well, even with the long hair, she stands with her head under, I follow her without fatigue. She stops and disappears under water to reappear a few meters ahead. I go down in the water.
  The show I see is incredible: there are many small candles in water, ranging from the surface to the far bottom. I see the silhouette of Livia and resurface next to her, in a puff of air. You tap, the water in that area is not high, but I put my arms around her neck and she hugs me.
  <<Wow, how wonderful, it was a great idea, let's go to the horizon!>>.
  <<Livia, It is better not to do this, the fire is not very high, let’s go back>>.
  <<No, come swim again!>>.
  And she starts. Towards the beach. We swim side by side, then Livia snaps as to leave me on the spot, but I take her and throw down water. The girl comes out with all the hair on the face and moves them with her hands, puffing. She opens her wet and smiling eyes, and she tries to throw me under, jumping with hands on my shoulders. I go along with Livia’s wish, and sink, swimming away a little. When I resurface, she's walking in the water, she hugs me and kisses me. For anyone at my age, who had left to go to a maybe boring party, to be there with a girl was great! More, half-naked...
  It is not that I had a lot of experience, indeed. Paul and I spent more time playing billiards that with the girls. At age 15, where do You want to go? School, pool club, some cinema, some party, that's all.
  Back on the beach, we walk close to the fire, I'll get more wood to revive it. Livia is covered with a towel and gives me another one.
  <<No, we use it to sit>>.
  I extend the towel and sit down. She puts her close to me, very close. We touch, I put one arm around her shoulders and she snuggles with a chill and shiver, I look at the fire, and when I turn my head, Livia has her face lifted to mine and we kiss again. She hugs me and the towel falls. I don’t understand anything anymore. I had not arrived before at this point. It starts a concert of hands and kisses that I had never heard. A minute later, I find myself lying on my back with Livia, above, which starts waving. I help, but I have only half an idea of what was about to happen and she needs no help absolutely.
  Then the idea becomes clear in all its evidence.
   

  I take her home and we give ourselves one last kiss.
  <<See you tomorrow.>>
  <<Of course>>.
  <<Tomorrow night, what do you do?>>.
  <<Don’t You care what I do tonight?>>.
  It is two in the morning.
  <<Yes!>>.
  <<My sister and her husband come out, I have to keep the children. Do You want to come here?>>.<<Sure!>>.
  <<Bye!>>.
  I ride the bike and I go away home, diving across the entire width of the road, from one side to the other, all the way home. At the gate there's my mother with the car keys in hand and the gate opened. I had never left home, after dinner alone: this was the first time, I had established a good record!
  <<Hello, Mom!>>.
  <<Where did you go? Is this the time to get home?>>.
  <<I was at a party. It never ended. Good night>>..
  And I fly to bed, happy, confused, and tired. In the morning I wake up in a bed of sand. I will not tell you where I have it. The sand of Castellaneta is very special. It doesn't come off easily. Make account of salt, sweat and the rest, you can imagine. I take the sheets and throw them out the window, resting on the windowsill.
  <<Good morning, Mom>>.
  <<Hello, all right?>>.
  I could tell her what had happened, but I keep her in the dark about that. I decide to go on the sidewalk
  below the window and remove the piles of sand. When I come into the kitchen, my mother asked me why I had stripped the bed.
  <<You know, I was late, I wanted to give you a hand>>.
  I don’t think she would ever believe.
  My father, as soon as he saw me, told me that night I would not be out for punishment. The controversy is
  not served at all. Only in the afternoon, while playing bowles by neighbours, I moved the stereo speakers on the terrace and I put "In-a-Gadda-da-vida" blaring. The neighbour, Giobatta Pittaluga, begins trying to convince him to let me out, that nothing had happened, that I was a boy, what had to do in the summer a punishment for being late and so on. My father, whose music has never had a great relationship, obsessed with riffs of Iron Butterfly, shouted "Just stop with that noise!". I would have embraced him, but he’s not the type.
  Giobatta, then, told me that the night before, the whole company wanted to go to the beach to swim, he had arrived first, had seen my bike, took a look and he went back on the waterfront, to tell others (including my parents) that "there is already some people, let's go somewhere else".
  That morning, at the beach, with Livia, we pretended that nothing had happened, "hello, hello" and that's it, the usual games with anyone else, but there was a certain complicity. And how! A wink and a smile every now and then.
  After dinner, I got up and I announced that I left.<<What time do you get back?>>.
  <<HOW ?>>.
  <<You don’t want to go back to the two?>>.
  <<I don’t know! Why?>>.
  I was still 16 years old, he was right, although at that time.
  <<Come home at half past ten>>.
  <<So I don’t go out>>. It was eight o'clock, at that time no one, except us who had Genoese habits, was at the table, so I was going to wait around nine o'clock appointment time at the home of Livia.
  After a nerve-wracking negotiation, we agreed to a strict midnight. As a young Cinderella I go away and I wait in front of the house of Livia, hoping she comes out and see me. A few minutes after my arrival, she appears on the balcony and looks toward the gate: I appear and she greets me with his arms and beckons me to enter. I leave the bike outside the gate, with the heart in turmoil.
  <<Hello, how long are You waiting?>>.
  <<No>>, as a fake banknote tarot!
  <<Sit down, my sister is going out>>.
  Here comes the Swedish brother-n-law and sister Livia and present ourselves, he ask me if I speakEnglish.
  <<Yes, Sir!>>.
  <<Well, why don’t You put the bike inside?>>: the bike appears a little at right side of the gate.
  <<Thank you, I go, so I open the gate for You>>.
  <<Thanks. Are we ready? Go>>. And we approach the gate. After that he comes out with the car, I get on
  the bike and drive near the house. I go to the terrace and Livia hugs me.
  <<I thought you don’t come!>>.
  <<I convinced my father with the help of Giobatta, it was tough, but they are there, we are here>>.
  We remain to chat, drink and smoke on the terrace. Every now and then the two children appear. Then
  Livia leads them to bed and leave me alone. I wonder what I was expecting, I was hoping for a "thing" as the night before. On the other hand, what was I thinking. I look at the pine forest, while Livia speaks with the children to put them to sleep. It takes a little time, then she gets on the terrace and snorts.
  <<To a babysitter, with children, is not my preferred job, indeed!>>.
  <<Do you often?>>.
  <<Here, sometimes. I take it as if I repay, to be a guest of my sister. I don’t miss anything. I should also
  study. I have to take an exam in September>>.
  <<September?>>.
  <<Exam sessions are scheduled in June/July, September, sometimes in February/March>>. I was just at high school according to me the university was light years away.
  <<So?>>.
  <<So, I have to give one a mid-September session and I should start studying>>.
  <<A month?>>.
  <<Sometimes is enough, this time I have to do it. Do you like something to drink?>>.
  <<Yes>>.
  <<Coca Cola?>>.
  <<Well>> and she goes inside and soon returns with a tray, with a bottle of Coca Cola and two glasses.
  <<Come in?>>.
  <<Yes>>, I enter and I close the window. The light in the hall is entrusted to a pair of bedside lamps.
  There's no sand.
  At ten minutes to midnight I was at home. Why do I have to take chances?
   

  In the following days we continued to meet in the morning at the beach, in the evening around the forest or at her home, with her sister and her husband, sometimes alone, or back to the beach. But I cared sand very much.
  The love story ended after a meeting at Livia’s in Bari, in September. I went there as a guest of a friend of mine, and I had been to her one afternoon, when the house was empty.
  After we had being together, she said we were exaggerating and I did not understand. We were good, in bed and out. Or maybe I was fine just for me?
  Maybe yes. Three days after I left, I received a letter that I have kept for a long time. A calligraphy round, precise, with very large dots over the “I". 
  We don’t see each other anymore. Paul told me that he did not know what I should do, but that I could write her, asking why. Having said that, she replied that I was a kid, you could not, and so on.
  End of the love story.
  And what a story: the first time I was not yet sixteen for twelve days, I still put large dots over the “I”.
   

  At a certain point, I realize that Barbara has not yet arrived. The light in the kitchen is off, but someone turned on another light that emerges from a door, to the left of the kitchen. I feel dazed, I still have the newspaper on the belly. I get up from the sofa and go to the light. Barbara is lying on the bed, under the covers and she's reading.
  <<Hello, do you want some coffee?>>.
  <<What coffee, what time is it?>>.
  <<Midnight and a half>>.
  <<How 00.30 am?>>.
  <<Midnight and a half, you fall asleep. I sat on the couch, I put a DVD, hoping you woke up. The movie is over, and I came here>>.
  <<My God!>>.
  <<No problem, come here>> and spreads her arms I sit on the bed and we hug. Under the covers, she doesn’t wear anything. I had not made the figure of the viveur, but, obviously, it was not important.
   

  February, 15th
  Next morning I wake up and Barbara, waked, has her head on my shoulder.
  <<Do you arrive just now or not?>>.
  <<I didn't move a little all night long. It was a wonderful evening>> and her face opens in a smile that is a breath of happiness. Suddenly that happy face turns serious. 
  <<You don't know. I can't have babies, my uterus is a deformed little one and I cannot go pregnant>>. 
  I feel astonished and wondered and fix my eyes on hers. 
  <<Why do you tell that?>>. I wasn't worried tonight, I'm worried, now, for Barbara. 
  <<Tonight I can't succeed in telling this to you. That's not true: it wasn't the moment, one in the arms of the other. You behaved like a gentleman!>>. 
  <<Sure: I'm a gentleman that having a dinner at a girlfriend home falls asleep on the sofa>>. 
  <<Yes, but you were here only for dinner, nothing more. I'm happy for you fell asleep for you felt at your case. No one of us was nervous because someone thought that's something going to happen. Listen: you're a gentleman>>. 
  I turn my voice like an actor. 
  <<Well, You know: gentlemen like me always do the same, to sleep on sofa, with ladies like you>>.
  She starts laughing and tries to hit me with a pillow. 
  <<Come on, stop! Well, I'll prepare our breakfast and You have only to stay here waiting for me>>.
  <<No, sorry, wait a minute. You didn't joke when you said you can't go pregnant?>>.
  <<I wasn't joking>>. 
  <<And which is the problem? Meanwhile, it would be too soon to talk of this: I haven't, in a word, ever thought before to have another son and I don't think it now. Anyway, I don't think anymore. I've two wonderful sons and I'm proud of them. I don't feel the bill to have a son with anyone. Another one: I'd just like to live more with Junior and Cristiana. I only don't have the time to think you like mother of a son of us. And, believe me, now I can't at all. This way is the right one, really. So, I'm sorry: such a problem is a great problem for a woman. Nothing has changed>>. 
  She keeps my head in her hands and she kisses me gently on my lips then the kiss become deeper: after the kiss her face lights up in another pretty new lighted smile. 
  She leaves the sheets, keeps a dressing-gown and while wearing it she goes away, leaving me alone thinking. Air fills with a sweet music, luckily, non with disco music. 
  Sun light comes in by the windows, inside white curtains. I turn and look what time it is: eight o'clock, not too late, not too early, there's no hurry. 
  Barbara arrives bringing a tray with brioches, fruit juices and coffee. 
  <<Orange juice, right?>>. 
  <<I don't know, let me taste it>>. 
  <<You like me to hit You>> and she keep the dish with brioches. 
  <<What do you do today?>>.
  <<I've to prepare a business plan for the job I've spoken about with Rosanna Campana yesterday>>.  
  <<And after>>.
  <<I was thinking I'll call maybe a colleague that mixes pesto and tomato sauces to have a dinner>>.
  <<And if she refuses?>>.
  I drink my coffee, looking at Barbara.
  <<Nice! I knew: I don't have to fall asleep!>>.
  <<And if she refuses?>>.
  <<I'll try later>>.
  <<Sweet, come on. I'm going to prepare>>.
   

  Barbara keeps the tray and goes away leaving me alone to think that now It is time to stand and go to my office. I smile a little: Barbara's singing. 
  Barbara comes back and taking off the suite she shows her naked body. When we're near, while I'm going, she stops me and gives me a sweet and lovely kiss: nothing more, It is time to go.
   

  When I come back in its bedroom she's dressed in grey, dress and coat. Her eyes are serene and bright. 
   

  First thing, after my personal computer is on, I download mails from study server. I'm not a great web fan, I use Internet for job, researches, I've designed my own web site and uploaded it in the net, but I'm sure internet is not effectual one hundred for one hundred.
   

  Our architects' insurance fund gave to anyone a web paper subscription: every day this web paper sends a list of building and projection tenders. Often I delete those messages. This morning, on the contrary, I open the tender’s bulletin. After I've read the first tender, I call my Bergamo's friend, architect Mauro Borghi.
   

  <<Mauro, do you feel you can make a monument?>>.
  I was sure that Mauro was the only person who I'd like to participate to that tender. He's a great architect, he have a catching mirth, serious, clever and before member after friend. Friendship that is born with anyone from friend to member don't last a minute. We worked on several stuffs and we appreciate working with each other, he have a great hand for drawing, a little less in using drawing software's. This is my job. 
  This crazy friend doesn't ask me "where, for what, who".
  <<Sure, I do feel>>. 
  If Mauro answered no, I sure wouldn’t go on: I wanted to say, one day, to my sons that I've tried to make that memorial, even if I will lose.



<<And from 10.30 to Super Bowl who was with You?>>.

<<No one, only someone at the papers shop>>.

<<And where were You the evening of February 9?>>.

This is hard, surely I can't remember. And then remember anything under pressure like I'm feeling now is certainly much harder than ever.

<<This date doesn't tell me anything, I don't remember>>.

<<I suppose you'll give the same answer for other days>>.

<<And what do You think? You're asking because You already know the answer. I don't have a schedule for job, imagine if I had one for evenings>>.

Before Saturday and before Barbara I spent evenings in the office or home alone. Some Saturday with friends, sometimes at cinema. Here it is, I can remember the movies I've seen and almost the days. Maybe this could be important. Then I can control highway payments too. I need more murders details. 

<<Inspector, I'll tell all I can knowing the dates of the murders, I don't know how can help You more>> and I don't know why I have to help You to rip me off.

<<For the last two murders You don't have an answer>> and he turns to Serao. 

<<Filippo, what do You think?>>.

<<No alibis, there's no alibis. The answers are not enough. Maybe we can give some days and talk again with Farni>>.

"With Farni" not "Mr Farni": just like I'm guilty. And it sounds very bad. The only good thing is that from that evening there has not been any other murder. If Barbara's friends didn't come now maybe I've an alibi and I can feel a little better. Maybe. Now I can do nothing, maybe I can control credit card payment. Too much "maybe": it doesn't work. Capurro keeps a sheet from the folder and give it to me. 

<<Her You have, names, days and places: take a look and I'll call You, You know, in three or four days to meet again>>.

<<Are You going to let him go?>>.

<<I've nothing than two uncertain alibis and a theory for a sentence Farni said in a bar>>.

<<Sorry, am I here for a theory?>>.

The captain returns to the window. 

<<Farni, I wouldn't let You go. Thank the attorney if You’re going away>>. 

<<Yes, Mr Farni, for two murders Your position is very hard, we've you control the others. I'll give You three days. I'll wait You here on Thursday>>. 

<<I've to go in Gaggiano for a job. Can I do or may I call a lawyer?>>: I'm thinking at Mauro Costa, another member of the party I was in. 

<<No, for the moment It is enough You must tell me when You go out, until Thursday>>.

Serao is beating nervously fingers on the wall near the window. He decided I'm guilty.

<<I think he couldn't go anywhere>>.

<<I’ve decided, I'm the attorney and I’ve decided so, until Thursday, Serao. That's all. Aprile and You search for more details about February 16th, times and places, ok?>>. If I think that my contrary passion for bleached hairs has put me in this trouble I start smiling. Sure I could have said nothing in the wine bar. 

<<Goodbye>>.

<<To You all, goodbye>>. Goodbye, not so long, unfortunately. 

Aprile takes me to the door. Walking back the path I've done before I feel I'm breathing again like if at attorney office I was not breathing. 

 


I take the way to the seafront, it will be longer, but I need to see sea. From a car someone screams: "Hey, take a look, Graziano Farni" and I don't see who's screaming. The walk is very longer and I'm walking slowly. With an effort, I'll buy local newspaper. 

 


The office is full of sun and I tell Luigi I was there to testify for a car incident. I must say this to Barbara. 

I open a website to search the number of a friend of mine who was a police commissioner then raised to Quaestor. He lives in Milan and I search his wife name: he had to do so for security reason. 

 


<<Hello, Jane, Graziano, how are you?>>.

<<Graziano, what a pleasure, I'm fine and you?>>: the same lovely Jane. She asks me about Cristiana, where I am, what I'm doing. Jane was so sorry when me and Cristiana’s mother broke up. You know, life sometimes does her worst. 

<<I suppose Luigi is working>>.

<<Yes, he is in Lodi, now he's there from 2004>>.

<<May I call tonight?>>.

<<Sure You can, after 8.00 he will be free. What's happening?>>.

<<I prefer to tell him, then you'll hear anything. Nothing important>>: maybe.

<<Oh, sorry, I understand>>.

<<Don't worry, Jane>>. 

<<Ok, bye>>.

<<I'll call tonight, bye>>.

The bell rings: Arnaldo is here.

 


We talk about the tender and looking at the photo, I give him a copy of the tender. We read all the text, writing all the bureaucratic passages and the technical rules. 

<<About foundation, there's no problem, ground is good. We have to study how to link menhir and foundation>>.

<<For the moment we have to wait Maestro artistic decision, but I'd like to write something about structure in the report>>.

<<Wednesday?>>.

I tell him where is Maestro studio, he keeps a navigator and fixes the address.

We get up and go to the door. We wave and I come back to my desk.

I complete that file with the examples to show what Commission means for the memorial. I don’t like any of them, but there are only two examples. I send to print and start searching news about murders. I find only last fifteen days, nothing more. I can’t show anything, it will be hard. I print this and review the example file. I decide it is good, send it to Mauro and print some copies for the meeting.

I notice I’m alone since Arnaldo is gone away. Yes, using the PC leaves some signs in the mother board, but this alibi is insufficient.

I check the chat with Mauro and the history is disabled! There’s no memory for previous conversations. No alibis. I enable it. Mauro is offline, I can’t try.

Now, Barbara. She likes to have a chat: well, this is the time. I can always find one between Mauro and Barbara. Paul, Andrew and Roby aren’t fitted for this.

<<Hello, Barbara!>>.

<<Hello, Farni>>.

<<Listen, I’ve finished for today, if I can I can go there and install all software You need>>.

<<There’s something strange. Is there something wrong?>>.

How can she understand, she hasn’t the webcam yet?

<<Nothing, then I’ll tell You>>.

<<Then I’ll tell You? Come on?!>>.

<<I’ve said then I’ll tell You>>.

<<Call me when You are near the hospital, I’ll come to keep You. Bye>>.

<<Move! Bye>.

I keep the murders news and put the report of the examples in a bag.

In an hour I’m near Nervi Hospital and I call Barbara.

<<I'll pick you up in Commercio St., we will meet there>>.

Bus stops on a bridge over Nervi River. I cross Oberdan Av. and go to Commercio St. A car has the headlights turned on, an Audi A6.

 


<<And here it is. Your stupid game!>>.

Barbara listened silently to anything I told her while we were going to an old chocolate farm, transformed in offices building.

<<And now?>>.

<<And now, what?>>.

<<Now, what do You think you will do?>>.

<<Nothing and a lot of things. First, I have to mark everything I do, to be always under control. Second, this evening I’ll call this friend of mine, Giuseppe Carovigno, who’s a Quaestor, and his is a wise thing. He can sure help me>>.

<<Yes, and where can he help You, in the investigations? But stop!>>.

<<Barbara, don’t play on this. Not about investigations, only on what and how I have to do>>.

<<I don’t know, let’s go>>.

A beep closes the car.

 


The studio is fantastic. Second floor, very bright: great entry with desk and a secretary, two rooms with people working on PC, printer’s room, meeting room with oval table with eight chairs. A table that you ask how someone can set it up. There’s a room that Barbara doesn’t show me. Barbara takes me to the kitchen, she keeps and opens two beers.

<<How can I help You?>>.

<<There’s nothing You can do. You have only to be my alibi in the future. I’ve always been visible, if the fool does some other shit I don’t have to be alone>>.

<<How do You know is a crazy one?>>.

<<I don’t know if is one alone or not, even police doesn’t know anything>>.

I don’t understand if beer has a bitter taste or if this is a shit moment.

<<I've searched all the news about murders, here it is>>.

A boy comes in the kitchen.

<<Sorry, Architect, Mr Cavanna is here>>.

<<Take him in the meeting room. The presentation?>>.

<<It is ready, on meeting room PC>>.

<<I’m coming>>.

The boy closes the door.

<<Listen, Farni. Let anyone help You, don’t be fool, don’t start playing like a cop>>.

She keeps my hand in hers.

<<Don’t do anything stupid, I’ll defend You tooth and nail, but let someone help You. If that night II didn’t make You go away…>>.

<<No, no. Let this away from all, please>>.

I kiss her hands.

<<All right>>.

<<Giuseppe can help me, I’m sure, but don’t have to worry at all>>:

<<Ok, let listen Giuseppe. Now I’m busy, come with me>>.

She takes me in her studio.

Awful.

Wall covered with pictures divided by argument: Van Gogh, see area, docks zone, flowers area, all put in perfect symmetry. Desk in glass on aluminium black legs, with PC; a wood table for meetings, a library on which is better I don’t tell you anything. Shameful!

<<That's my PC, this is the password. Do what you have to do, I’ll be back in an hour>>.

A kiss on my nose, Barbara keeps a folder that is where it has to be, she goes and she closes the door. I’m alone again.

 


I install all and try to call Mauro.

<<Where are You?>>.

<<I’m on a Barbara PC, she wanted this chat and I’ve installed it>>.

<<What’s the matter with You?>>.

<<Nothing, nothing at all>>.

<<Is anything ready for Wednesday?>>.

I tell him all the documents we have prepared.

<<Bring everything. I’m studying about an idea>>.

<<For the monument?>>.

<<No, for an Olympic swimming pool!>>.

<Sorry, sorry>>.

<<Is it not You the one that says the times to respect? I’ll bring something too>>.

>>All right. Bye>>:

<<Bye>>.

 


<<Here I am>>.

<<Don’t You know that You have two monitors on Your PC>>.

<<Really?>>.

<<Yes, the graphic card supports two monitors, just like my one and You can do what You see on my PC>>.

<<I don’t know. Tomorrow I’ll buy another monitor so will You install it?>>:

<<I don’t know>>.

<<You want to me to beat You up>>.

Her voice is not so happy, but her face is lighted. 

<<No, don't worry. You'll be my alibi for the future. Come, let me show what's new>>.

<<Happily, let me see>> and she keeps a chair from meeting table.

 


I open the mail browser just to see a little dog barking.

<<What a lovely doggie!>>. She keeps the mouse.

<<How is it?>>.

<<Send yourself a mail>>.

After a few seconds, from left corner the doggie sets in the monitor. 

<<Every five minutes, the software downloads post by himself; You can change this period. If there's a new message, notifier comes to inform you>>.

<<Your notifier is a butler>>.

I show her all notifiers and she decides to keep the little dog, for now.

She gains the possession of her chair and sends me on her one. 

<<Now the chat>>, she starts it and Mauro and my name are in the window. 

<<Why are You there?>>.

<<I haven't turned off my PC, for the alibi>>.

<<But you are here. Really>>.

<<Don't worry, this is right. Call Mauro>>.

 


<<Hello>>.

<<Mauro, I'm Barbara>>.

They start chatting, Barbara types very fast, she reads every time but it goes without. Her face is straight but she has a strange expression in her eyes. An emoticon that is sending kisses goes in the monitor and Barbara wants to know how to do, then she fills the line. Mauro had to go and she closes the chat.

<<Lets go?>>.

<<When You like>>.

 There's no traffic going to Chighizola, it’s all to the centre of the town. I've to move my office in this part of the city. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           


Right now, I've some other problems.



. 

VIVACE
  March, 1st
  The papers for the meeting are ready. Luigi had prepared all the drafts that, anyway, are not drafts, for someone are complete, for someone else there's something missing, so someone can sign and someone else have to complete before signing. The only thing I need is that everyone had to be there to decide what we have to decide. Arnaldo and Luigi will come together; Arnaldo goes to my studio from university to keep Luigi. 
   

  I'm in Lodi, I'm going to police headquarter where Giuseppe is the Quaestor. Yesterday he told me that today he will have no institutional commitment and can stay together. The last time he said the same in Milan, in the afternoon there was a big police operation that brought to the arrest of an important terrorist, chief of a fighting armed group. 
  When I park my Ginevra I call Barbara, I'm a little bit in advance.
  <<I'm arrived in Police Headquarters>>.
  <<Graziano, a customer of mine, who's a car dealer, has a Peugeot 308 in excellent conditions, two years, a few miles, are we interested?>>.
  I've never told her I want to change my car, which is three years long. 
  <<This is not the moment, I'm interested, and I’ll ask him if he can wait three or four days>>: there's the crazy killer still.
  <<I know he will have no problem. Call me when you've finished>>.
  I enter: there are a stairway and a guardhouse. 
  <<Good morning, please, Dc. Giuseppe Carovigno>>.
  <<Do You want to give Yourself up?>>.
  I've my Montgomery, my brown velvet suit, maybe my long hair makes him say so.
  <<No, I have to meet...>>
  <<Graziano, Graziano Farni!!>>.
  Giuseppe is near a lift and comes to the guardhouse. We hug while I send a disapproving look to the guard that is turning green.
  <<Quaestor, this man was searching for you>>.
  <<Cavallo, he found me, there's no problem, he's a friend of mine>> and the poor Cavallo turn from green to dark red. 
  <<Did he tell You something?>>.
  <<Nothing strange, don't worry>>.
  <<Let’s go to my office>>.
   

  The wall behind the desk is full of commendations that Giuseppe minimizes. There's a lot of commendations and his modesty is a little suspect. 
  He tells about his career, and his job against criminals, his wife and his sons, Valentina and Marcello. 
  <<Graziano, you're not the man of the mysteries, I didn't like that "Then I'll tell you" You told me. What's the matter?>>.
  I tell him the entire story, starting from Maria in 1972 to Police Headquarter meeting. Obviously, he doesn't know anything more about murder than me. 
  <<But I know Aprile! We were together in Police academy>>. And he says a lot of names of people I know from television and news. 
  <<Do You want me to call him?>>.
  <<I don't know, I told you, for now I don't have alibi for the last two murders and I don't have anything for the others>>.
  <<Actually you must find a killer in 24/48 hours, after this period things get harder. It needs also some luck, but sometimes it’s not enough. A serial killer follows a crazy logic that has to be understand and sometimes not as soon as the serial begins to kill. In this case, owing to what I know, is really strange, there's nothing than the colour of victims hairs. Beside, You make jokes with a girl in a wine bar near Police Headquarters without having the smallest piece of alibi!>> and he smiles. 
  <<But, sorry, I'm in deep shit and You smile?>>. 
  <<I'm smiling because I can't see and I know You can't be a killer. I know>>.
  <<I'm glad that You know>>.
  <<Listen, I'll call Aprile, when You're gone I call him. I had to do this at least, it’s a long time I don’t speak with him, and then I'll tell You. Let's go to eat>>.
  When we reach the hallway Cavallo gets up quickly. 
  <<Mr Quaestor!>>. 
  <<Relax, Cavallo, I'm going to the Officers' Club>> and the policeman says hello to us. 
  <<But what did he said to You?>>.
  <<He asked me if I was going to give up myself>>.
   

  When we eat we speak about G8 in Genova in 2001, one of the more sad moments of my city that I remember. He tells me some things that give a more bitter taste to the memory of urban guerrilla in those days. I tell him about the memorial and he says he's proud I'm trying. At 1.30 we get up, I've to be in Gaggiano in an hour. 
  <<All right, be quite, I'll call Aprile then I inform you>>.
  <<Thank You, Giuseppe>>.
  <<Stop, by the way, I'm amusing>>.
  <<Again?>>.
  <<Oh yes. When You're again in Gaggiano I'll wait for You>>.
  <<Sure, goodbye>>: we hug for a long time.
  When I'm on my car, he knocks on the glass.
  <<But You, do You really want to give up yourself?>> and he laughs it off. 
  I start the engine and go away. I'm smiling. 
   

  When I'm at Maestro's studio I tell Barbara about Giuseppe and his words. 
  <<What's about You?>>.
  Silence. 
  <<Nothing, don't worry. I've to give Volterra on March 13, I'm worried also about other projects I'm following>>. The day before Nassiriyah date. 
  <<Can You do it>>? 
  Silence.
  <<I had to, I must organize myself. Ah, listen, I've bought monitor and webcam, when do You think You can be here?>>.
  <<I don't know, we will start at 2.30. I hope we finish in a couple of hours. It is an important meeting, there are a lot of think to look for and to decide>>.
  <<Call me when the meeting is over>>: I'd like to tell that I will not call, but it seems It is not the moments to joke.
  <<Sure, I'll call You later>>.
  Maestro opens the door and tells me that the professor can't be with us for other engagements. I get mad, we don't have more time and if the Professor decides that he will not be part of the group? Maybe we don't have the time to search for another even if I'm thinking to a friend of mine or to members of my engineering society. Today is the day and we have to be all here. While I'm deciding to give him my hanger, Mauro's car arrives. He and Raffaello join us and I see also Arnaldo and Luigi's arriving. Here it is: it misses only the Professor. 
  When Mauro knows the Professor is not here he doesn't worry. I introduce one other everyone and we enter in the studio. There's a man, short grey hair and a light beard, looking at sculptures. Raffaello goes to him and they hello to each other. He is the Professor, Mr Giovanni Arena.
  <<Did You fall for this, Architect?>> and Maestro smiles. Today is the day of smiling, before Giuseppe, now Maestro. 
  I know what I'm saying to him, but the look Mauro sends to me stops me and I smile to let him understand I appreciate the joke. But that is really false. 
  The sculptor shows us a sketch of the monument: 19 small square solids made with clay, covered with iron filing. He explains how to do them: first passage of the slabs in a furnace at about 1400C degrees, then a first cooling, again in the furnace for a new burn and another cooling, then again until he obtains what he wants for shape and colour. 
  I look it: nineteen pieces about 8 inches high, that seems placed random. Everyone goes to the office.
  The solids are random placed: without any order, each one turned compared with the previous or with the next one, in two broken lines, with being in line one another.
  What I want is growing. I can hardly keep from saying it to everyone. I had to hear Mauro. And the others. I climb on the table where is the sketch to take some picture exactly on it, just some zenithal photos with the camera almost parallel to the table. Then I take others pictures from several points of view. I've decided. This is what I want. I call Mauro and ask Raffaello to take a photo with his father and me squatting behind the little monument. 
   

  Mauro keeps a pencil and starts to draw. Before he traces 19 menhir in prospective connected with a path, then he closes every thing in an elliptical crown. 
  <<Listen: imagine we are with shoulder to the Basel and crossroads between Ostiense and Lungotevere is here. We can keep that awful area and put our memorial, at the apex of Shuster Park, even to revitalize that area. The stone will be travertine! Long live, Rome!>>.
  <<Let's show it to the group>>.
   

  The reaction of the group looking the draw, in Maestro office, doesn't ooze emotion, only a sober appreciation, nothing more. I'm on cloud nine. There's more to do, but I defend Mauro idea with all my strength, a trench that I don't know I have. Mauro's sketch is now complete, people, trees, bushes, cars, roads, and a masterpiece. Group interest is grown a little. Arena speaks about internal and external lights and Mauro puts some spots in the draw; Arnaldo, owing to tender rules, says that by statics there would be no problem. Luigi and Raffaello nods, I'm really delighted. Two hours ago we didn't have a group, now we have some people that didn't know each other ready to work together for the same project. And what about enthusiasm? Enthusiasm will arrive otherwise professionalism will be enough.
  <<We need a name>>.
  Maestro hits is chin and he takes off some glasses.
  <<We can call it "Wood of iron" for the strength of both, the warm of wood and the eternity of iron!>>.
  Mauro looks at me.
  <<I like it, but I don't know, this the first we can try to think about>>.
  Mauro keeps the sketch and takes a look at the faces of everyone.
  <<Forest, forest fits better, we can call it "Forest of iron">>.
  Arnaldo moves his head.
  <<I don't like, I don't know which name to tell, but I don't see iron and wood together, we don't have any wood here really>>
  A light turns up in my head.
  <<Listen: first of all, iron doesn't exist alone in nature. Here we have some slabs developed with a burning process so You know iron is turned to steel. So we can call it "Forest of steel": we always are near wood, but forest represents something big, just like the group of our menhir. Forest is more generic than wood. This are two adverse material, one is warm, the other is cold, and it’s the best couple we can have. We don't have wood, that's right, but menhir placed like that remember a forest>>.
  I listen to myself and I wonder.
  <<About static point of view we have no problem, we'll make a foundation and we link in some way it to any menhir>>.
  He has changed the speech: I see this like a yes to my proposal. I look at Mauro.
  <<Listen, the name is important but we can think a little more, but we have to start working about the project. Maybe we can meet again next week with everything ready to finish and with a full point of view about the name>>.
  <<The name is right for me>>: Arnaldo has done maybe a big effort, but this is good. Luigi and Raffaello say their yes in the same time. Arena too agrees.
  <<All right. Let's start: Luigi has prepared the papers for everyone. Please, read yours. For Professor Arena, You have to complete, please, Professor. Can you send me your curriculum vitae? This is my mail>>. And I give him a sheet that he looks very interested.
  Luigi gives everyone two sheet with declarations and I give to Arena his one to complete.
  <<Next time we meet, we will have all really only to sign>>. Luigi asks to Maestro, Arena and Arnaldo a copy of identity card inside Thursday. 
  <<It will be enough in Friday when we meet again>>.
  <<No, sorry, it’s better to have all before, if something's missing we have time to correct>>.
  <<All right. Is Friday ok for everyone? Here if you can, Maestro. And we will do>>: Mauro is a famous optimist.
  <<Ok, next Friday here>>: everyone says yes to Mauro proposal.
  <<So: we meet on Friday March 10, then Graziano will come to my studio and we prepare all to leave from Rome on Monday to give our project>>. Here it is, it’s almost finished. 
  I see: we don't have a draw, no report, we've only all curricula and, finally, the idea. It is March 1th, next Friday it will be March 10th, then we have Saturday, Sunday and Monday and we have to give in Rome at 12.00 pm on Tuesday. We have just a week. I've to keep report draws from MIBAC site. 
  After a brief discussion we decide for Friday. Meeting is over. 
  <<A minute, guys, let's have a photo of the group before leaving>> and Raffaello keeps a tripod from his bag and puts his camera on. We go together behind a table and stand close. Raffaello prepare the self-timer and clicks the camera then runs near Luigi.
  <<Another, wait, thanks>>.
  Raffaello looks the photos and says they are right. Maestro keeps a bottle of red wine and fills seven glasses. 
  Some foolishness about what will happen, who knows who, who knows someone in Rome, who we can call, we all decide to leave out politics. I hope we don’t say these for the wine. It is 4.00, it may be possible. I remember to everyone to write a short report on his job then we wave and everyone goes to his car in the apron beyond the studio. 
   

  <<We have to exchange photos when we arrive in studios>>.
  <<For this evening, forget it. I've to go to Barbara's to install a web cam>>.
  <<Well, Simpleton! And then?>>.
  <<Then I'll install a second monitor>>.
  <<How is it, how does it go with this Barbara?>>.
  <<It is going well. We live together>>.
  <<Really? And since when?>>.
  <<Saturday, coming from Rome. We said almost together and decide in a while>>.
  <<How long do You know her?>>.
  <<Since the beginning of university, in 1976 and after we met sometimes>>.
  <<I thought it was a recent story>>.
  <<Actually, we met after a long time on February 14, last month>> and I notice it was Valentine day and nor Barbara nor me said something about.
  <<Don't start saying dates, forget it>>.
  <<We will see in the chat, tomorrow morning also for the photos. Good bye>>.
  And we go to our cars, Luigi is with me. 
  I call Barbara.
  <<I'll wait You, go slowly I'd like to have the whole Farni>>.
  The voice is serious and the tone is not relaxed. Ugh!
   

  Barbara's face, when the monitors are turned on together, is like the one of a child when opens a new game, the game she desired most. Luckily I've bought an adapter for the graphic card: no one said to Barbara to buy one link between monitor and card, and there's no one in the box. 
  Barbara opens windows bouncing.
  <<So I can develop 3d renderings on one and on the other I can work the same. Before I couldn't>> and she blinks her eyes the way I like most. The light is not the usual one. 
  <<You can start the webcam from this icon. Look, Mauro's on>>.
  A moment of fear and she clicks on the webcam icon. Then she clicks on Mauro's link and asks him to open the webcam and sends a ding. Maybe I've created a monster.
  Soon the image of the wall beside us is on a window in the screen: I move the webcam to centre Barbara there. Mauro's image compares. 
  <<Hello, Barbara>>. 
  <<Hy, my friend>>. Barbara types quickly. I look her and I ask to myself how long I will be able to look Barbara. I leave them and go outside the perfect room. 
   

  When I come back, one monitor is developing a 3D render that seems to be very nice; on the other screen she's drawing something. I've created a monster. 
   

  <<May I call my customer for the car?>>.
  <<Yes, call it>>.
   

  There's only a problem: the car has three doors, I'm use to have five doors, since a long time. Backs doors are very comfortable, very much. Otherwise, 17.000 miles, diesel. It is really an affair, moreover Mr Bernese dotes on Barbara for she designed his dealership, in Dalmazia Lungobisagno, on the left side of the river. Then he waited for us to see the car.
  <<Mr Farni I value Your car 6.000€, for Peugeot I ask 8.000€>>.
  <<And if I sell my Citroen without giving it in?>>.
  <<7.000€ for You and Ms Greco>>.
  I keep my check book that unusually I don't have and give Mr Bernese a 1.500€ check. 
  <<Do You change often Your car?>>.
  <<Well, You know, I don't know. Why?>>.
  <<Because It is hard to find a customer like You! I'll check everything, from engine to car body>>.
  <<Can You transfer also the stereo, I really like to have it again>>.
  <<Sure. I call the electrician to dismantle it. I'll gift you also rear speakers>>. I haven't them, stereo surround in my car, try to imagine Eric or Queen or Paul in a cockpit with four stereo speakers.
  <<Ten days check-up and the car will be Your. May we meet next Friday, March 10?>>. I say yes and I witness at the dismantling of the dashboard to keep the radio. It is for a good cause.
   

  March, 2nd
  Today I'd go to police headquarter. 
  I was in my office early in the morning and I left Barbara home. I've found nothing, obviously, because I have nothing to find. Files dates and crimes time doesn't match and anyway the time of files saving doesn't show anything. The murders were done late in the afternoon or in the evening and often I wasn't at PC. The same for highway tolls. I'll try to find to way to certify my presence everywhere. Then, not now. 
  Who knows how many people are without an alibi for the time of the murders? And that people know nothing about them and who doesn't know what shit killer is doing? Sure, there’s no other that talks about murders in a wine bar as I did. 
  Aprile and Serao have only this, for me this is nothing, for them it is a beginning, a little beginning, just to start, but it is enough. And this enough it’s about me. They have to find bodies of evidence and I don't want them to give anyone. 
  I call Giuseppe. He tells he has spoken with Aprile and that confirms what was in the air, that's really nothing. Aprile was very kind, they know how strange killer modus operandi is, that about me they have what they have. Giuseppe knows I'm not guilty, but this not evidence, a clue, and much less an alibi.
  I've read that in certain pathologies, human being does acts that soon after it forgets for they are contrary with the way of life, for they are not part of the way he thinks. I don't think to be so psychopathic to kill five women and after forget five murders at all. Do you honestly think I wouldn't notice?
  A doubt comes to me: if I go to headquarter, maybe I won't be back. If I'll have Barbara with me, apprehensive like she is, she could change the film of my arrest in a drama and this goes good for Serao. I give up. Asking Barbara to come with me will increase my foolishness. 
   

  Luigi is completing the declarations for the tender, then he will draw for Fogli estate. I and Mauro have exchanged the photos. They are in the folder with the ones of February 24. I've some ideas about graphic form for the cover of all the documents.
   

  I'd like to find an image to build the logo of the group. There a lot of model pictures and have to look everyone. I know where I want to go, but I don't know how. 
  There are Raffaello’s photo of the group. For now I open both of them and choose the best one. I clean all imperfections like stains on the wall behind. I give it a name: 7 Wonder. I'm sorry for things looking to have the same name, but it fits very well. I turn the image in black and white and then into sepia. I save both of them and put the previews each in one monitor. While I'm calling Mauro to ask him which he likes, I decide to use the B&W one. All right, this is done. 
  My phone rings. 
  <<Dr. Farni? Here is Ins. Aprile>>. 
  <<Good morning, Inspector. Tell me>>.
  <<When will You be here?>>.
  We said the day, not the time. 
  <<When You want, every moment today will be fine. But, actually, I didn't find anything>>.
  <<What do You mean?>>.
  <<I mean that over files times, I didn't find meetings or dates with people that can testify an alibi for the murders>>.
  <<I understand. Can I call You later?>>.
  No, You can't. 
  <<I'm here>>.
  <<Bye>>.
   

  I decide I've to inform Mauro. Paul and Andrew are too far. I'll call them before entering jail. Mauro is out and he doesn't answer at the cell. He will call. 
   

  I browse all the images of the design made by Maestro, almost thirty images. And I find what I'm searching. A shot from the left that seems at man level, whit almost all the elements. I cut what is unnecessary to obtain only the model. Then I create a shadow down on the left side, I write the name with a strange font and the cover is ready! Then I keep the 7 Wonder picture and create the second page, with the name of the members, starting with Maestro, then Mauro and all the other in alphabetical order. I'm very proud of this job. I decide that these will the cover of all papers. 
  “Layla” sounds on my phone. Paul ringtone is "Yesterday", Andrea has motorbike sound and Roby "Homburg". After this call I've to create Barbara ringtone. 
  I tell him murders history from the begging in an increasing silence. 
  <<Shit, all right! You're so rigorous, but why do someone have to kill bleached hair women?>>.
  <<Are You talking about me or that crazy fool?>>.
  <<You! Who minds about that one?>>.
  <<Ok>>.
  <<Be careful with newspapers. If Police Headquarters let anything to be written out, we're in big troubles>>.
  <<And what can I do? An alibi soon and I'll be out fast and clean or there's nothing I can do. I don't think they want people know they have nothing than a little suspect to prove, but nothing serious. No one can do anything>>.
  You too.
  <<That's true>>.
  If Barbara's friends weren't in her house, I didn't have that journey in the city, maybe this could not happen, but please, don't say this to her. Also, if the boiler didn't broken I'll be in another state of mind. Too many "if": only reality matters. 
  <<Come on, don't think about it. Let's go on>>.
  <<I'll send You the first two pages of all papers>> and the bars starts. 
   

  <<It is incredible! Very nice! Don't do anything more, they're perfect so!>>. 
  I'm happy. I care enough about it. 
  <<Thanks, Mauro. Now I've to leave you, I've a couple of things to do>>.
  <<Bye bye>>.
   

  I call the car dealer where I bought my Citroen C3 to ask if he is interested to buy it back. 
  <<A minute, please>>. 
  It starts a version of "Yesterday" that even drunk Bob Dylan in 30th anniversary concert can do worst. I hardly can hear it. Maybe I can do it better, even playing alone. 
  <<Architect Farni, how are You?>>.
  <<I'm fine, it was better before I hear the waiting music>>.
  <<Please?>>.
  <<Don't mind. Listen, are you interested in my car?>>.
  <<Tell me some more>>.
  <<43.000 miles, I've bought three years ago>>.
  <<Will You buy a car here?>>.
  <<No, I've received an offer I can't refuse>>.
  <<I understand. How's the car body, did You have some incident?>>. I make a knocking on wood.
  <<No, nothing>>.
  <<It is possible. Let me see the car tomorrow when we open>>.
  <<Ok, see You tomorrow>>, in Carignano and near there a car wash so I can clean it.
  I search new ringtone for Barbara: I put "Wonderful Tonight" on her name in my address book. That Eric's hit is an everlasting song and I put it in the first ten in my personal rock hit Laredo, maybe in the first five.
  I call her to tell about tomorrow. 
  <<Do You want me to take You?>>.
  <<No, thanks, I don't think that will keep my car tomorrow morning>>.
  <<How much do they pay to You?>>.
  <<I don't know, I don't ask, but I will accept venue only 100€ more than the cost of the car of Bernese>>.
  <<I'm looking for an evaluation on web. What year is it?>>.
  <<2003, August>>.
  <<Did You go to police headquarters?>>.
  <<Did I tell that was going there? No, I'm waiting them to call me again>>.
  <<Well, you know, we that have two screens, we can work and surf the web the same time>>.
  A monster, she's a monster and I've created her, but she's cool.
  <<Here it is! They value a car like yours from 6.500 to 7.500€. How much did you pay it?>>.
  <<13.000€, three years ago>>.
  <<Do You think 7.000€ will be enough?>>.
  <<Sure, but I know an architect who very close to the dealer and that can help>>.
  <<I'm not sure I can have this power>>: now my monster is a little less cool.
  <<I've tried>>.
  <<Later, in the afternoon, I've to go in Sardegna BLV., will I pick You up?>>.
  <<Yes, could You open the chat?>>.
  <<Oh, sorry, I'm not used yet>>.
  The telephone rings and Luigi answers.
  <<Police Hq>>.
  <<Pass it in the meeting room>>.
  Why don't they call on my cell?
  <<Hello?>>.
  <<Aprile>>.
  In another moment I would start to smile. 
  <<Tell me>>.
  <<We have made some controls. Capurro and I have spoken with the Chief Prosecutor. We're going on with investigations. We are stopped, for February 16th murder, for Your position can be defended only for a question about times. Serao have tried to repeat the journey between Chighizola and Sestri Ponente at the same time of the fact. There's a reasonable doubt that to do all is materially impossible, to do all from 10.30 pm to the beginning of Super Bowl, as You said. We've checked the decoder chronology and we've found it was turned on at 00.20 am>>.
  Man, this too? This is really luck, even it is also another way to control what you're doing. 
  <<And You must consider that some should have to put itself in the place, wait, do, range, letter and will>>. "Say, do, kiss, letter and will" is boy’s game for some game penance.
  But why can't I shut up?
  Luigi knocks the door and wave for he’s going away.
  <<Please?>>.
  <<Don't mind about it. I only want to say that there are also down times, don't you think so? To put himself, wait for the victim, how can I say, move forward?>>.
  <<Right, we add down times, in other words, she was a nurse coming home at the end of her shift>>.
  <<And because I can't choose the moment to leave Chighizola just in time to reach Sestri Ponente in time>>.
  <<This is doesn't matter, You could go away when You want>>.
  <<No, I should never do. About this Architect Greco can tell You that I went away for a coincidence, two unexpected guesses>>.
  <<Sure, but You could have took the opportunity and take any advantage. Anyway, Your alibi for that night holds up>>.
  under this point of view, I'm a psychopathic that created a copycat after previous murders!
  <<Now, because we can't think about a copycat, at least for Sestri Ponente You're fine. There nothing more, but, please, don't do anything stupid>>.
  I was just thinking about making a couple of them.
  <<Can now I say hello to You?>>.
  <<Yes, we will hear>>.
  <<No, sorry, yes, but not for worst news>>.
  <<Bye>>.
   

  Barbara's joy is the higher she can, but her voice is not glad at all.
  Back to my PC I download and find a mail from Professor Arena, text and images. He said that I have to put images in the text. Luckily every picture has his name and searching in the text I can put them in his place. So I can complete another step. General curricula are complete and tomorrow Mauro will have it. I will ask him how's going with Fogli's job: I keep the report and start reading to improve it. Well: Nassiriyah tender is important, but I've always to work.
  I wait for Barbara to go home. To wait, I know It is in my life.
   

  March, 3rd
  The dealer, for the hole in the dashboard offers 7.250€, because I don't have the piece to close it and he has to search for him. I accept and, strange, there is a notary ready to write the bill of sale, written and signed very quickly, such quickly that I think Arena has just sold up my car. And I have to walk.
  <<Hello? How is it gone?>>.
  <<Can I know what's about You?>>.
  <<Nothing, nothing, I'm worry about work>>.
  <<I just never thought that You can get worry about Your job and this can change You. I've sold my car and I'm going to the bank to deposit the check>>.
  <<I'll bring You later so we go home>>.
  <<I'll wait You>>. I don't like this, but, tell me, what can I do?
   

  Luigi has prepared all for Fogli review we have to do, while we print the draws Mauro has send us by mail early this morning. We mark in red every mistake in texts and tables. Then we divide the duties: I'll correct draws and he has all the rest. 
  I call Fogli. 
  <<Architect, I thought someone arrested You>>.
  What?
  <<No, no, Mr Fogli, but You don't know how this is near>>.
  <<You always joke!>>.
  You don't Know how much I'm joking.
  <<We are reviewing the project: take a look and tell me something about>>.
  <<I'll do it in a while, I've investors breathing down my neck>>. 
  If he could know who's breathing down my neck.
  <<Can You call me early in the afternoon?>>.
  <<Sure, hear You later>>.
  I complete the review of the draws and ask Luigi to print them in PDF files blocked files and to send all to Fogli. I call Aprile that's out for his facts: I think to ask for Serao, but he is not at my side and last time Aprile doesn't say his name. I ask strongly to tell Aprile I've called.
  <<Graziano, is everything fine?>>.
  <<Oh, yes, You know, that testimony, a great break>>.
  His face shows me he doesn't buy it. 
  <<Ok, I'm going. I've to prepare a Boy Scout camp for the weekend>>.
  <<Man, is Friday!>>.
  <<Yes, it is, since 0.00 am, this night>>.
  Luigi is Scoutmaster or scout team leader, I've never understand. 
  <<Well, see You on Monday>>.
  I turn off the radio and turn on iTunes on Luigi's PC. There I have over 3.000 MP3 all from my CD music collection which have almost 500 pieces and 6.000 songs. Today, Queen afternoon, without a reason, but It is right so. There are 63 songs from Queen whole discography. 
  Butler tells there are some mails to read.
  All from Arena, other images to put in the curricula. The complete one is more completed then before.
   

  Another incoming call. 
  <<Architect, God bless email!>>.
  <<Do You think?>>.
   

  He doesn't even how to use it, his secretary download it for him. 
  <<I say. An associate of mine has seen Your job and he said It is alright under every point of view!>>.
  <<And now?>>: in this moment it is pretty good. 
  <<Send my two copies by a FedEx, together with Your fee>>. And this is much more pretty good.
  <<And move yourself!>>.
  That's great!
  <<When does the project arrive?>>.
  <<I'll call you back>>.
  <<As soon as You can>>. If I can't find a courier I haven't even my car to go to Bergamo. 
  There's a stationery store near the doorway of this building that has a courier service too. They told me the last departure starts at 4.00: it is 1.45, I think I can do it, I've to do it. I tell Fogli that delivery is for 10.00 in his office in Bergamo. 
  I send draws to plotter and texts and graphics to two different printers. As and when something is complete I bend the draws and bind texts. I sign everything. Two complete packs are ready at 3.35 and I run down to deliver. The van of the courier is already in the street. I give all to the store clerk and sign the delivery documents.<<No, nothing, thanks I'm with that guy>>.
  <<Barbara!?>>.
  <<Hello! I was on the bus when You went out of the doorway>>.
  <<Bus?>>.
  <<Yes, I left my car here and took a bus>>.
  <<Nice. How are You?>>.
  <<I feel fine, You know, I've a lot of things to do, I'm fine>>.
  I don't like it. 
  We look at the van that brings our job to Fogli and we go to the studio. 
  Barbara seats at Luigi's PC and puts a pen drive in a USB door. iTunes opens "Innuendo". I read for the last time group curricula and send it Mauro who I tell the delivery of Fogli project. 
  <<Barbara, open the chat, Mauro is on line>>. It starts "The show must go on", a really swan song for Freddie. But is it true that swans sings only before they die? 
  When download is complete it is the time of "Two much love will kill You", a Brian May songs. First time I heard it in Freddie Mercury tribute, April 20, 1992, and that was published by Queen in "Made in Heaven", 1995, sung by Freddie, after Brian published it in his "Back to the light" album solo in 1992. "Made in Heaven" was really the last Queen album, after they died, even if the only that understood this was John Deacon, the bass man. 
   

  <<I miss that man>>.
  "Who wants to live forever" fills the air.
  <<I see it>>.
  <<Between Freddie and George I can't say who's the one I miss more>>.
  <<Come on, Honey>> and she keeps my hand and caresses it. 
   

  <<I'll make You read our curricula>> and laser printer gives 44 pages, starting with my cover. 
  <<And what is this?>>.
  <<The model of our memorial>>. 
  <<The model is to do when the project is over, not in the beginning!>>. 
  <<That's too simple. Maestro prepared a sketch and we took it as it was and it is our starting point>>. I really want to know how many people will arrive at the contest with the sketch of their project. We have it. 
  <<It is so fine!>>.
  <<What do you expect?>>. 
  <<Nothing, believe me, it is so realistic>>.
  <<Take a look at this picture>> and I open the one with Mauro and me behind the model.
  <<You're so serious, it is an intense photo, very nice. Do you have others>> and she comes near to me bring in a chair. I choose the folder and click on the first photo of February 24. She looks all the photos with a strange light in her eyes. Do You think she's tired?
  <<We should go out for dinner>>.
  <<Why not? But I've to go home to change my dresses>>.
  <<Oh yes, I understand, who knows which kind of smell that they have after a job meeting?>>.
  <<Cool fool, I've stained my shirt>>.
  <<Here there’s my friend Francesco, we can buy ice cream to take home, if You like>>.
  <<Yes, yes, I like ice cream: chocolate and stracciatella over all!>>. Just like Cristiana and me. 
   

  In Rimassa St., air is mild, spring is not here yet, but winter is gone. I hope winter is really gone. 
  In the ice cream shop we buy two bowls: one with fruits ice creams, the other with chocolate, panera, stracciatella and hazelnut. The matter is that I don't like fruit tastes and Barbara likes everyone. 
   

  After we come back in the street, two guys come to us watching Barbara and me. Barbara keeps strongly my arm. The smallest does an act with the hand toward the plastic bag.
  <<Let me see what You have inside there>>.
  I stop myself while I’m showing. 
  <<Sorry, who are You?>>.
  The higher one has grey hair and whiskers, stops the other one and puts his hand under the coat just like the dwarf. I'm thinking he's keeping handcuffs: Police Headquarter didn't call.
  They show me their means of identification: there are two revenue Officers, a Marshall and a brigadier, the small one. 
  <<Please>> and I give the Marshall the bag.
  My heart is moving from left shoulder to spleen, the arm Barbara is [1] ightening had decided to sleep.
  The little dwarf puts his hands inside and moves the ice cream bowls, keeps the sale receipt and shows it to his chief. The Marshall looks inside too, weighs and gives it me back.
  <<It is alright, you can go>>.
  <<Sorry, don't You have to introduce yourself then ask for what You want?>>. 
  <<Yes, I'm sorry, but Confuorto is at his first control>>.
  That under measure of human being has hit me so hard at his first operation?
  I look him and gives my hand.
  <<All my compliments, brigadier, let's meet at the next heartbreak!!>.
  <<Don't get too carried away. I apologized>>.
  <<It would be very better if You didn't have to apologize>>.
  <<I'm so sorry, good evening>>.
  <<To You>> and they turns on their feet and go away to JFK Square. After all, it is a shit job and doing this way It is worst. And, believe me, there's always something worse than shit. Don't You know that are always the best ones to go away? Here it is: if the best ones die, here only the worst ones remain, the shit, and You think that it would be better if, instead the one You love, this one or that one would have died in his place. Everything you can make up, there's nothing You can do, on hearth, only against death.
  Barbara is coming back and my arm too. She looks at me.
  <<I was really afraid>>.
  <<You're on the way to be back. I was afraid too. P.H. doesn't have called. You've a wonderful almost pink colour, you're not so grey like before>>.
  <<Oh, man!>>.
  <<Exactly, until they asked for the bag, I thought they were two policemen>>.
  We take her car and she gives me the car keys. While she's changing her dress, I call a friend of mine in a restaurant near Quarto's church and book, after asking for some fish to eat.
   

  Barbara wears a brown tailleur with white shirt and a brown poncho.
  My friend lets me choose the fish I'd like him to cook and with which recipe. We eat fish from starters to cakes, in cakes there is sure fish glue, so the circle is closed.
   

  After a short journey on satellite channels, we reach the bedroom for a music channel, a 70s music channel. All of a sudden, Barbara gets up from the sheets.
  <<Farni! We have to do a filth>>, she dresses a night wear and gets out of bed. I can only look at the door, the empty door.
  Barbara comes back with the ice cream bowls, two giant cup, a ladle and two spoonfuls. She fills the cups.
  <<Let's have it>>: this is our filth, in the beginning, ice cream in bed.
  Then we have the rest, with wonderful 70s music together with all our rest.
   

  March, 4th
  As soon as I wake, I look outside. It’s 7.30, it’s Saturday, it’s a beautiful day: Fogli will receive the project; tender papers are ready, Barbara's sleeps on my shoulder.
  I didn't sleep a lot. I woke several times thinking at that fucking crazy. 
  I turn on TV in a news channel, without audio with a rolling bar of news. There's nothing interesting, if You can hear nothing is sure better.
  Barbara spreads out arms and legs, with usual enlargement to occupy half of the bed.
  <<Good morning>>.
  <<We will see>>.
  <<What's the matter with You?>>.
  <<I'm sure Police Headquarter is calling>>.
  <<Oh, Farni, quiet! Let's run away! Run away with me!>>.
  In front of when she's worry, It is a big step.
  <<Yes, and Your job??>.
  <<And Yours?>>.
  <<Exactly, we can't. The only thing is they always call office number, never a cell call>>.
  <<Let's turn it off. Actually, it is just an idea. I've read somewhere of a special cell phone plan between two people. Wait>>. She goes in the hallway, naked and comes back with an envelope. She comes under sheets, she seats, covering her breast. 
  <<Take a look, two sim connected with this fare have 500 minutes a month for 4€ and these numbers will be only for us>>.
  <<And when we are together can I turn the one off?>>.
  <<Joking man, anyway, do You have a cell on which You can put the new sim?>>.
  <<It is OK. But I can't turn my phones off: if my Dad or my brother had to call me I have to answer>>.
  <<Yes, that's right. We go to Campetto Sq., we buy two sim and two phones and that's all right>>.
  <<Campetto? Is it strictly necessary?>>.
  <<Why? There a shop I know>>.
  <<I don't like that zone>>.
  <<Genova Historic centre? The Europe biggest one?>>.
  <<I don't like the biggest Europe historic centre>>.
  <<All right, I'll search for another shop>>, she gets up, leaves a kiss on my face, dresses a blue night suit, with the belt tightly around her waist. Stereo spreads "My father eyes". Good morning, Saturday. 
   

  I keep my phones and turn them on, two different pin codes. While I'm hearing "Motherless children", Barbara is back in the bedroom, with the breakfast tray.
  <<Have You decided?>>.
  <<What?>>.
  <<About the new cells. Then I've another idea>>.
  <<Have I to be afraid?>>.
  <<No, nothing, be quiet>>.
  We eat and drink orange juice. Barbara's filling the cups with coffee when one phone rings. Police Headquarter. 
  <<Hello?>>.
  <<Farni?>>.
  And who may be if You call my number?
  <<Yes>>.
  <<Serao. Well, You have to be here as soon as possible>>.
  <<All right, a few minutes and I'll be there. Is there sometimes new?>>.
  <<Deputy prosecutor has something for You. See You later>>.
   

  We leave the car in Vittoria Sq. Yes, "We": Barbara wanted to be with me, but then didn't let here to be present at the meeting, she's not a lawyer and so she had to wait in the hallway. 
   

  D. P. Cavanna is seated at his desk, with the folder in front of him: the folder seems to be a little bigger than the last time.
  <<Mr Farni, since three months ago I am in charge of hair murders, we call him so>>.
  Good for You.
  <<We have six woman killed>>.
  How six? They were five!
  <<Sorry, I've forgot Your name. How do say, have You six?>>.
  <<Cavanna, D.P. Cavanna. Yes, we have six murders, yesterday night we have the last one in Voltri>>.
  And then?
  <<You are here for this. Where were You last evening?>>.
  <<Yesterday night?>>.
  <<Yes, from 8.30 to 10.00 pm>>.
   

   I feel clearly my heart beating through my throat. I allowed a long silence to fill the air. 
  <<Around 8.00 two revenue Officers, a Marshall with brigadier Confuorto check me for a control, then I was in a restaurant near Quarto church, from 9.00 almost to 10.30, with Arch. Greco>> and I search the number on my phone:<<And You can check it all, even with the Officers of the financial police. And, please, I don't want Ms Greco to be involved>> and I'll shows the screen of my phone. 
  Capanna is writing.
  <<Well>>.
  <<Doctor Cavanna, I know that restaurant, I can ask to the owner>>.
  As if I'm telling You a lie, Serao of my boots. I'm not so stupid. The distance between Voltri and Nervi is about 21 miles, about 40 minutes with no traffic, something less on the highway. For a roundtrip, without any stop, almost 80 minutes, maybe more. They are searching an alibi for 90 minutes so they are screwed. Two for me, nothing for them.
  The three men look one another: they have made the same consideration.
  <<Why do You want we don't involve Ms Greco?>>.
  I fix my look strong in his eyes.
  <<Because You don't need it, she doesn't need and I don't need and like too>>.
  Aprile gets up and comes to stop in front of me. 
  <<We must clear something else and you're not in the position to ask anything, You know?>>.
  <<Clear what You want, but let her out of these>> and I stand up in front of the captain.
  <<Hey, men, quiet. Aprile, sit down, Farni You too>>. Serao keeps a sheet.
  <<Farni, You don't have a lot to run with your mouth. We're doing what we have to do and we don't have to listen to Your requests>>.
  <<Because you're going around a phrase and You don't know where are You going to slam with the investigation>>.
  <<How dare You?>>: deputy prosecutor is very red.
  <<Nothing, You just don't know what to do and You mess with me, without any evidence or clue, You know only I haven't an alibi for February 16th. But do You know how many people don't have an alibi?>>. 
  Silence. 
  <<A lot of people, a great number of people and You don't have a man in every bar or bus to listen to the words of any people talking about those murders>>. 
  <<I would not say this, for now You can go>> and Cavanna closes the folder. 
  <<My best regards to Carovigno>>. Only Serao has nothing to say. I look at him and to Aprile, while Cavanna and I are shaking our hands. 
  <<And I ask the maximum secrecy on the last murder for You and Ms Greco too. We succeeded in keeping it only between the necessary people and those people are compelled to keep silence. No one else knows anything>>.
  <<I don't know why I'm here, imagine if I know something else. Goodbye>>.
  I say yes moving my head. If they don't want to spread the notice it is a good thing. Maybe they don't want to alarm public opinion or they know something important on this story and they don't want anyone to know anything.
  I feel so much better: with this murder the crazy one has done me a favour. Now he only has to do something else, another murder, let police arrest him and confess. He could do. 
   

  Barbara stands up, and her face, maybe for my expression, lights up and hugs me. 
  <<Is everything fine?>>.
  <<Oh yes, there was another murder, but this time they don't have really nothing to accuse me>>.
  <<And?>>.
  <<And yesterday night a woman was killed in Voltri and I've a great alibi since 7.30 pm to 10.00, probably time of the murder. After this hour it doesn't matter>>.
  <<I will tell them we were together>> and she moves to the office.
  <<Where are You going? There's no reason>>.
  <<Sure?>>.
  <<They said they won't hear You about it>>.
  That's not true, but I always say the truth even to lie.
  <<And maybe You are on my side>>.
  <<Of course, but truth has no side>>.
  <<Can we talk out of this building?>>.
  <<Of, sorry, let's go, You're right>>.
  <<Listen, Barbara, they ask me not to spread this notice>>. 
  Last time when I walked out of this building I was messed up and it seemed to me everyone turned to look at me. Now It is completely different. In the street no one cares about me, Vittoria Sq. seems to be more near. It is not over yet, I know, but if killer does me that favour. And I've to tell everything to Paul and Andrea.
   

  March, 5th
  Paul and Andrea didn't have any reaction. Paul told I had to be patience and everything will have the usual happy end. Andrea told me that I had to pay attention. Both are sure I'm not a killer, both are two thoughtless. 
  Sampdoria loses against Juventus with Nevdev as scorer: I don't mind at all.
   

  March, 6th
  Mauro wants to know how we are about the tender. He was really impressed about Arena and Maestro curricula. 
  <<For Friday, it’s important You will not forget anything. Then You stay to sleep here, Sunday we will finish a Monday You'll go to Rome. Do You know someone there?>>.
  <<No, no one. I'll search for Montanara St.>>.
  I found that street: it is near Campidoglio, Rome City Hall, on Teatro Di Marcello Rd.: Montanara St. Crosses that road. 
  <<Here it is, Campidoglio, Venice Sq.>>.
  <<It is comfortable!>>.
  <<I don't know, It is in the centre and it seems there are no car parks in the surroundings>>.
  <<Fogli?>>.
  <<I've to call him to check if he had received the project, but I'm sure if he hadn't have I would era his screaming from Bergamo! I've send it in his office and he was there on Saturday!>>.
  <<And how did You do?>>.
  <<It is simple: I've sent all by courier and it was impossible to deliver in Curno, his home town. Do I've to deliver in Bergamo to have a quick deliver. I haven't my care so I can't deliver by myself>>.
  <<How are You without a car? And on Friday? If You send me everything to print I could have delivered!>>.
  I didn't think this way at all.
  <<Don't worry, thanks the same, I'll call him and then I'll tell You. Fir the car, I'll keep the new one just Friday>>.
   

  Fogli's secretary tells me he's busy for a meeting and she can't talk with him. I inform Mauro, then I call Giuseppe. 
  I tell him all about Saturday and the unexpected greetings of Aprile. I tell him even about last crime and the silence request, he can know, who do You think he can talk about?
  <<This is maybe a good sign, they did it for they knew You have nothing to do with that>>. 
  <<Another is Captain Serao: owing to his opinion, I've to be jailed last time>>.
  <<If they would have jailed You they should have committed a great mistake and for luck they didn't>>.
  <<Do You think that fool should stop himself?>>.
  <<I don't think, it is possible, I don't know. There's something strange! I told>>.
  <<Now I wouldn't like Police Headquarters let something spreading around>>.
  <<They don't, which advantage could they receive?>>.
  <<None, Genova is a small city, I don't see any advantage. The only I see It is for newspapers>>.
  <<That's sure. Well, mate, let's meet again. I'll be in Genova with my wife so we can spend some time together>>.
  <<I'll wait for You, Giuseppe. See You soon>>.
  <<Bye, Graziano, You were right when You didn't give yourself up>>.
  I hear him smiling while he's closing. What a kind of cool bastard!
  Late in the afternoon, Barbara takes me in Brigate Partigiane Blvd. to buy two sims and a new phone. We can speak 500 minutes at 4€ a month. And those numbers will be secret for all. All, You know?
   

   

  March, 7th
  We leave home under that rain they call English rain for it is smooth. Who knows why someone call is so. 
  Barbara's umbrella is a single size and I get wet, even I have my usual Stetson on my head. The worst thing is I don't have any car, three days and I'll have it.
   

  Luigi tells me Fogli has called, he said the project has been approved by investors, for schedule and financial characters. He also said he's starting for a journey and that we can start.
  I call him and ask to his secretary to speak with him.
  <<Architect, how are you? The project is very nice, we can go on with the next phase. I'll send you the contract to sign. I'm starting for a vacation>>.
  On Thursday?
  <<And where are You going?>>.
  <<Venice, we start tomorrow for a cruise, I'll be back on March 19. We will hear on 20>>.
  When you say the coincidence.
  I'll send back the contract tomorrow late in the morning, so Fogli will read it only when he will be back and I've my time for Nassiriyah.
  " Wonderful tonight" plays on my phone.
  <<Have You read the newspaper?>>.
  <<I? I don't buy local newspapers since 6 years ago>>.
  <<Today they talk about serial killer. You must buy it>>.
  A chill runs down on my back.
  <<And then?>>.
  <<Today they talk about murders, days, names; there's been a plan on which they indicate the places where the women has been killed. The journalist does such hypothesis on which is the matter. He doesn't speak about inquirers and about police headquarter declaration>>.
  <<And then?>>.
  <<Then he talks about the colour of the hairs of the victim>>.
  Now the chill is stronger. 
  <<There's no name or talking about suspects>>.
  <<Yesterday Giuseppe told something about Police headquarter could spread something. I think journalist has been helped to write something, but he doesn't know everything, almost as they said to me>>.
  <<Voltri's murder is not in the text>>.
  Barbara's voice is serious, not happy.
  <<That's what they meant>>.
  <<Listen, a guy form a wall and floor coverings farm called me to invite me to visit their farm in Castellon de la Plana, next week. I've answered that we will accept>.
  <<Thanks. When do we have to go>>.
  I don't know if, this time, she had thought anything. 
  <<Aren't You busy to give up Volterra?>>.
  <<Yes and You have to be in Rome the day before. Departure in on March 15>>.
  <<I think I'd to give up Volterra in the end of this week or nearly in the next one>>.
  <<For early in the next You have only Mon or Thursday if we leave on Wednesday>>.
  <<Oh, man, You're right. l'll call soon. I send Your name to Pedro, the Spanish guy>>. Decisive, but not peaceful. By a side, the usual Barbara, from another point of view there something that doesn't convinced me by.
  <<Barbara, is there something that's going wrong? Doesn't aspidistra give flowers?>>.
  She starts smiling. 
  <<Lovely fool, I don't know if aspidistra makes flower! I'm busy with Volterra just like you for Fogli and the tender, add some other works and that it is>.
  I pretend to believe her, but I don't believe. 
  <<All right>>.
  <<I'll be there later to pick You up and we'll go to supermarket>>.
  I like to go shopping, we amuse, Barbara is a good manager in shopping, and I’m not. She's really objective, I'd buy more that I need.
   

  March, 8th
  Barbara agreed to give up Volterra on Monday, the day before we have to give up the tender. Her mood has changed since some days ago, she's no more joyful and peaceful, she's always sweet and lovely, but her look is sad, her eyes are not so bright: something is bothering her. I can't see her in this state of mind. And then I wouldn't want that her problem is Graziano Farni or that stupid bleached hair killer that is scaring her away.
   

  She left me at home, with a ticket in her place on the pillow. I always sleep a little but this time I didn't hear her going. I just don't like to wake up, but I have to do it. I walk to Sturla Sq. to keep the bus to my office. 
   

  Luigi shows me Fogli's contract: 18 pages whit some void place to fill with the names of who does what, times to give up and to pay us. To give up and pay have the same times, owing to my friend Ax, if You pay I'll give the project, otherwise we meet again. It is simply: job has to be recognized as it is and we can go on.
  I'll fill the contract choosing the member I'd like to work with me in this work. It is mine and I can choose the one I want. I'll send all to Fogli, Mauro and my President. Then I turn off my phones: I don't want to hear nothing about it. I say to Luigi I'm here only for Freddie Mercury, George, Paul McCartney, Eric and my Mother and my friends Paul, Andrea e Roby, but no one of them calls on my studio number. 
   

  One evening, while we were eating, Junior told us the bass player left his Group, "Butterfly effect". I told him it was ready to play a while with them, to maintain concert dates, but he had to tell me quick because also Eric asked me to play with him. Three evenings later I told Junior I've to give Eric my answer and that I'd go with him. Junior smiled a lot, I think he is still laughing.
   

  I call Barbara. 
  <<Sorry, I'm very busy, I've to give up next week>>.
  It is not good we have to go to Spain. 
  <<How far behind are You?>>.
  I'd love to help her just only today and tomorrow, but it feels a little help. In Friday I'll be in Gaggiano and then in Bergamo. I can't do more. 
  <<Not so far, but thank You for asking. We are three that are working on the project. Only two people are working on other plans>>. And this closes every speech. No help.
  <<I close my phones, not our one>>.
  <<Hear You later>>.
   

  I call Mauro on the chat, to know where we meet. 
  <<We'll meet in Gaggiano. On Thursday afternoon and Friday morning I'll work on the tender>>.
  I don't tell him we've finished. 
  <<We will bring all documents to sign in original and a copy of the curricula for all>>.
  <<Take here even every file, who knows what will happen>>.
  <<I'll send You all here now, then I'll do a copy on a CD and in a pen drive>>.
  <<That seems too much!!>>.
  <<You know, that the way I work. When I'll be able to enter my HDD from far away I'll change my way of working>>.
  <<All right, all right. See You later>> and he waves his hand in the webcam. 
   

  I start iTunes: today is Eric time. I'll follow him since "Wheel of fire”, double Cream album, 1968, I think the first to have two vinyl records, to have a drums solo (it lasts more than 17 minutes) by Ginger Baker and a live recording. His last album "Back home" is nice. I've a lot of his records as I had all the Cream albums. I play "Wonderful tonight" on my Ibanez guitar without any fear and shame. 
   

  March, 9th
  Sun, today the sun shines in the sky. 
  We're in bed, Barbara sleeps on the other side, and not in my arms. Her mood is becoming sickening. She doesn't let me help her. She doesn't tell me what's happening and obviously I don't understand anything at all.
  She wakes and spreads arms and legs all over the bed as usual, so that I've to move to let her do what she likes. 
  <<I go to prepare the coffee>>.
  <<Why are You in a hurry? Except You're not able, I think You'll do rubbish>>.
  <<Do You want to bet?>>.
  <<It would be like robbing to Red Cross>>.
  She gets up seated and fixes her eyes in mine. 
  <<I've something in my mind>>. 
  Coffee can wait.
  And the office too.
   

  <<Do You remember I told You I've an idea>>.
  Saturday, before police headquarter called me. 
  <<Well, when does rental agreement of Rimassa St. expire?>>.
  <<July 2007>>.
  <<Why don't You move in my office? Slowly, there's time, You can keep the last room, Luigi can stay with my staff, and we can divide meeting room, local network, printers and secretary service. The office is mine, I've bought with a loan from Architects and Engineers Welfare Fund>>.
  We're having breakfast. I look at that woman that has thought everything. 
  <<Whom are You talking to? May I hear that from a naked girl who's having breakfast in her bed? Early in the morning? I accept!>>.
  Barbara's jaw just drop with a croissant in her hand. Her howl is kept by some seismographs that send me a SMS to understand. 
  <<Waw! Great!>> and her kiss tastes of coffee.
  Yes, this was unexpected, offer and answer, answer without thinking.
  <<Why don't You get a chance to think at my offer?>>.
  <<Why? I don't know. Surely because I like too much to have my office in that zone of the city>>.
  Barbara in a while keeps her pillow and hits me very strong, so much that I can hardly recover: from smiling!
  <<Wait a minute, I've to tell You one think>>.
  <<Let say the right one!>>.
  Help me. 
  <<Barbara, the most important thing is that I can't refuse this from You. I can't refuse anything from you. All the rest doesn't matter. And I don't mind others>>.
  Barbara, kneeled on the sheets, has still the pillow in her hands, unconcerned to be naked. 
  <<That's the right answer>> and she kisses me.
  I don't know what time it is. Volterra can wait. The world can wait. We are here. 
   

  The day is boring, it doesn't rain but rain seems ready to fall. Barbara is gone in her studio and I, by bus, in mine. In the entry there's a women.
  <<Good morning, can I help You?>>.
  She gets up. 
  <<Good morning, Mr Farni. I'm inspector Malesani, Police headquarters>>. 
  It is the second time: every time Barbara proposes something, Police headquarter comes to my life.
  <<Can You follow me?>>.
  <<Sure, of course!>>.
  I keep Barbara's phone and I tell her I'm going out for a date. Luigi is astonished. 
  <<We will see later, Luigi. Check all for tomorrow>>.
  <<Is everything fine?>>.
  <<Yes, I should say everything is fine>>.
   

  Malesani walks in front of me all the way. She's high, slim, jeans, coat, I can't see anything else, light brown hair. 
  All my life passes in my head, just like I've something to pay. I'm seeing, my sons, my father and my mother, my brother, my friends, my job, my stories, my history. Specially Barbara, for I don't tell her where I'm going. The woman crosses to Saffi Av. entrance where immigrants are waiting for residence permit or to renew it. Who knows what they think I'm entering in Police headquarter. 
  The guard recognizes Malesani that says I'm with her. 
  We climb to the third floor: Cavanna's office.
   

  <<Here we are. How's going?>>.
  I'm in the chair with the sun in front of me, Aprile is on the other, Malesani between us and Cavanna behind the desk.
  <<I think You have to tell me>>.
  <<Well, Malesani told me she has something to say us. Only Serao is not here, he's coming>>.
  The woman gets off her coat and remains with a polo and a gilet, blue as her jeans. 
  <<Well, that's true, Mr Cavanna. I've a confession to make>>.
  And what am I doing here?
  <<Mr Farni is here for I've seen him several times in this building>>.
  Several times, two times.
  <<You know, Aprile, I don't like people investigated for nothing, wrongly accused>>.
  I completely agree with You. 
  <<And if that day I didn't hear Mr Farni blurting out that thing You'd never get him>>.
  Here the bastard from which everything started!
  <<Malesani, till now there nothing strange in what You said. And what You said doesn't justify this meeting>>.
  Malesani looks her hands then turns to look at me.
  <<Farni, even he doesn't have alibis, has nothing to do with the murders, You have nothing about him and where he didn't give any alibi>>.
  Aprile opens wide his eyes out. 
  <<And what do You know about?>>.
  <<I know because I've killed those women>>.
  A dove plans on my shoulder: I look into her eyes and it blinks them. This dove remembers me someone.
  Someone knocks the doors, opens and Serao enters. Cavanna and Aprile look one another. 
  Cavanna tells Serao what Malesani has said. Aprile looks at me and I spread my arms and shrug. Serao falls on a chair.
  <<Malesani, I don't understand>> and Cavanna leaves the desk chair and sit on desk.
  Malesani starts telling about every murder, starting from the first one, in Teglia, a woman that was coming home on the hill. Then she told about the one in Borgoratti, in a closed street early in the morning, a young girl that was going to university.
  <<Malesani, You may have read all in police reports>>, Aprile has a hand under his chin. 
  <<Do You want to let me go on and finish?>>.
  The dive blinks me and flies away.
  The story goes on. With the murder in Albaro, Molassana e Sestri Ponente, with every details, to complete information on places and victims. 
  <<And this I may have read here, in reports. But You don't know that I'm the killer of the woman in Voltri>>. 
  Serao and Aprile get up quickly on their feet.
  If there was the silence obligation how does she know?
  This is a great shot!
  <<Malesani, no one knows of that murder, do you mind this?>>.
  Malesani gets up and stops beyond Serao: she's purple and Serao is tied up inside in a thousand knots. 
  <<Yes, and so? I realize that all those bitches with that hair have destroyed my marriage! Yes, I realize too You will find my husband in his hose on Quarto hills>>. 
  Her throat is enormous. The face is deep red, eyes are popped out. 
  <<Those women didn't deserve anything more. I was on patrol and they went around with no problem, meanwhile the husband was mine, by the fault of one of that whores>>.
  Serao, a hand on his head and the other on his flank, moves to the window. 
  Cavanna comes back to the desk chair and Aprile has the mouth opened. Cavanna puts his hands on his face. What remains of Malesani looks Cavanna. 
  <<Sorry, Malesani, what have You done?>>.
  <<The morning before wedding I call my husband and asked to come to my house. I have showed him two photos, with time and date printed on. A landscape and a detail where everyone could recognize him and the whore. He took a look and tried to say "Jane, try to..." I slapped him in the face and I went away. The day before our marriage>>.
  Truly, to be precise, he wasn't Your husband yet. The dove could be smiling if it was still here.
  <<I found him with one bastard female, with bleached hair, in our house ready to receive us to live together in our bed that we had never used before even only to sleep! Non for the courtesy visit of a friend to one that is going to marry. No, that motherfucker was fucking with him on our bed, how disgusting! In our bed, in our house!>>.
  Cavanna is upset, Aprile has his head in his hands, and Serao is unrecognizable. 
  The only normal here is me. Think about this. 
  Malesani doesn't seem to feel so well. She falls heavily on an armchair.
  And what am I doing here?
  Serao calls a guard from the door and Cavanna call the Marassi jail. To jail a police woman may be its difficult.
  <<Why is Farni is still here, can You explain this to me? What more do you need to let him go?>>.
  I think nothing.
  <<Mr Farni, You can go>>.
  Two policemen enter and Serao tells them to arrest Malesani. They are astonished. 
  <<Come on, take her away!>>.
  They keep Malesani by arms and take her away.
  I stand up. It is over, now It is really over. 
  <<Gentlemen, I salute You all>>.
  And I don't mind even a little. If something about this story should spread out and without any alibi, for me it surely would have been a tragedy. Yes, not that Malesani is not living a tragedy, but as ancient Romens said, mors tua, vita mea.
   

  I go out through the front door. The sun is high, the day is wonderful.
  I cross the street to go to Vittoria Sq. and when I'm on the sidewalk under the arches, I turn and look police headquarter. I call Paul, Andrea, Roby, Mauro and Giuseppe. 
  Barbara? Barbara. I'm thinking about a surprise. I go to a flower shop and buy a great bouquet of coloured tulips. Then I call a taxi.
  <<Nervi, do You know Sicao, in Commercio Street?>>.
  <<Yes, I know, Sir, sure>>.
  Taxi man in right: I feel like a sir.
   

  <<Barbara, I've to tell You something>>: she welcomes me and her face is astonished, she keeps the tulips forest and lets me sit in her awful orderly study and leaves me alone a few minutes. Then she closes the door and sits.
  <<I've talked with my team. Tell me>>.
  I tell her what happened and while I'm telling her face before worried, becomes happy then turns in an enthusiastic one. This time it t is me to stand up, go to her and hug strongly. 
   

  For dinner we go in Rapallo in a Brazilian restaurant, and I drink Caipirinha. On the way there, Barbara drives her car and she will drive when we come back. I drink three Caipirinha and I don't feel it at all. I'm so happy that I could drink a bottle of Brazilian cocktail without getting drunk. 
   

  Tomorrow everything will be different, I'll be out for four days without strange things. Barbara shows me what she thinks about four days away in every way.
    


 


ANDANTE

March, 10th

What an effort!

Suddenly Caipirinha doesn't bring any effect. Now I'm completely dazed and confused. It’s better to feel so for a cocktail than for other things.

 


We have breakfast in an unreal atmosphere, between yesterday exhilaration and the time until Tuesday, there's some strange in the air.

 


<<I'll take You to keep the car then You go in Gaggiano and I'll go in studio>>.

Everything is planned. Barbara had prepared my bag, with all You need to stay away at least six days: three in Bergamo, two in Rome and the sixth one? 

When she's ready, she kisses me on the lips and takes my bag. 

<<Let's go, do You have all?>>.

She's always worry. Even now that something else worries her that she sleeps turned on the other side then mine, she worries about me.

<<Yes, I think so>>.

I've all the papers to sign, all the files of documents asked in the tender, my photos and everything I thought will be imports and I'll never use. 

<<Yes, I've all I will need for the tender>>.

<<Come on, we're going!>>.

Genova, in the morning, is like many other cities, cars with one man in every car, not more, all in cue to go to job or to take sons at school.

Car dealer is over Staglieno Monumental Graveyard where my Mother rests.

<<My mother rests there>>.

<<Do You come to stay with her?>>.

<<I cry every time, after four years since when she's gone. When I feel I've to go to her, I go>>.

 


<<Here we are. Give my regards to Bernese>>.

<<Don't You come?>>.

<<No, I'm really busy and You know. I don't know how many times it will take to prepare the documents>>.

I couldn't push more, she will not change idea, it’s better it will be me to be upset than Barbara is settled to be compelled to do something she doesn't want to do,

<<Well, hear You later>>.

<<Call me when it is over and You will be started>>.

<<When here it’s over, when I'll star from here, when I'll be in Gaggiano and maybe I'll call You on the road>>.

Her smile lights up on her face just like in our best moments. Not at all, a shadow remains. 

<<Good. You have to do that way>>. 

A kiss and I leave her car with my six days bag. 

 


Everything goes over very quickly and half an hour later I call Barbara, who seems to be sorry to have gone. She decided, she went away, I'm sorry and soon or later I'll tell her. 

 


I call Mauro to ask if there's something he thinks we have to have. Once I've left I can't use what I don't have. He tells me to bring everything. I decide to go to keep my graphics software to install on a PC in Mauro studio. Maybe I will not use, but if I don't bring it I'll regret. 

Marcella, Barbara's secretary tells she's busy and she can't answer. Our phone is in a bag and I can't keep it. I usually ask to be called only for God, Freddie, George, Eric, Paul and my mother. She puts me between those therefore she can't be interrupted. I say Marcella to tell her I'm leaving from Bernese to Bergamo. 

 


The car is comfortable, seats are supportive and engine is very silent. I'm over Serravalle Scrivia when the phone plays "Wonderful Tonight".

<<Graziano, I'm so sorry>>.

<<For what?>>.

<<I don't want to refuse me to come to the phone for You, Marcella had misunderstood>>.

I don't believe her. 

<<It’s not a problem, maybe a name ran out while You we're easing Your address book>>.

<<No, believe me>>.

<<Barbara, don't worry, after Your escape from car dealer this can happen>>.

<<Were You disappointed?>>.

<<For what?>>.

I really don't like to create her a problem, knowing she has already one, but I can't refrain from saying what I feel. 

<<You are disappointed>>.

<<Forget it. The car is fine, I'm satisfied>>.

Maybe it’s too soon for a view, but it’s the only way I have to exit from that speech.

<<Farni, don try to get smart, go slowly>>.

<<Well, I don't know the vehicle yet, I'll be cautious>>.

<<You're good, hear You later>>.

Soon after Bettole I speed up until 140/150 km for hour (85/91 miles for hour), just for a few minutes with 160 as maximum speed (100 miles for hour). Then I slow down to highway limit.

 


We are all in Maestro's studio. I've informed Barbara when I've arrived. 

Luigi let everyone sign his copy of tender documents. He doesn’t know I've another one. He checks all the papers with identity document, puts everything in a folder and gives it to me. The folder is named "Memorial tender - Documents".

 


Mauro keeps a plastic tube and pulls out a sheet. A draw, with some white area, but with plans, facades and sections of what we discussed on a sketch last time. I'm out of breath, there's a lot to do, but we have it. The other guys don't show their enthusiasm, but no one has something to say. One worked, six are looking. What I say about simplicity is on the draw, nothing hermetic, hard to understand, nineteen heroes, nineteen menhir, an ellipse to hug them, connected with the rest of the world. Fantastic!

Maestro has a hand on his chin.

<<Now, what do we have to do?>>.

Mauro looks at him.

<<You have nothing to do. We have to prepare the draw requested in the tender, Graziano and I will do it, he will come to my house and Monday he will go to Rome to deliver>>.

Arena moves around the table to look at the draw and keeps a folder. 

<<I've done a sketch of the monument, may we deliver also this one?>>: and shows a black sheet where he had drawn the menhir as they should be lightened with a lot of spots between blue and white inside them and from yellow to red on the outside! I keep the draw and I put it on Mauro's. 

<<No, only one draw, but surely we will put this draw in the main draw we have here>>.

Raffaello looks at me.

<<We can take a picture and put it in the draw!>>.

A genius. 

<<It’s the only way>>: Mauro confirms 

I look at the incomplete draw and I feel my emotion that's growing. 

<<Friends, surely we will be in the first fifteen, maybe we will win>>. 

I feel clearly 12 eyes moving to me and keep standing on me. I exchange the look pair by pair. Mauro puts a hand on my shoulder and smiles. The first fifteen are the fifteen well chosen to participate at second part of the tender that will certify the winner. 

<<Really, we're good and when this draw will be over it will be better>>.

<<While You discuss, I'll take other picture of Maestro's sketch>> and Raffaello leaves the group, keep a lamp and a camera from his bag. 

Arnaldo keeps his folder. 

<<About structure, there's no problem. The ground can carry 0,75 kg per cm2 and looking at what we have a simple direct foundation will be enough>>.

<<Well, we discussed about on last Monday. I go to take some other pictures>>.

The model is still were we left it and Raffaello is doing a lot of photo. I keep one from the zenith, trying to be exactly on the perpendicular at the centre of menhir group, then I try to find every point of view that can be  inserted in the draw. Who knows what will answer Maestro if I ask him to let to bring away his sketch. I forget the answer so I leave the question in my mind.

Everyone comes near the model and the guys start talking about. I look at them and I think that a fortnight ago they didn’t know that they will have been part of a team to work together to a target I feel. Now we are seven to move to that target. Everyone has his role, everyone knows what he has to do. There will be probably a lot of groups, I have my one. Only one will win, I, at least, have tried.

 


When we arrive at Mauro's, I write a message to Barbara.

I keep the PC near the Mauro one and create a folder "GRAZIANO" on the server, inside other folders for documents photos and draws. I install graphics software and connect my camera with USB door. Suddenly it compares on the monitor and I move all files to copy them to the appropriate folder.

<<Graziano, take a look>>.

I disconnect my camera and move to Mauro rolling the wheel chair.

<<Here I am>>.

<<If You have some sketch photos we can show it just like making a tour around the memorial>>: I think we have. 

I tell Mauro where he can find all the photos made today and in the previous meeting. 

"Wonderful tonight" plays in my phone. On the screen, Barbara's eyes.

<<Hello? How's going?>>.

Voice is not happy like in other moments.

<<Well, we're looking for photos to choose the best ones>>.

Mauro makes me a sign to greet her. 

<<And after what will You do?>>.

<<Mauro greets You. I think we stay here for dinner to continue the work after meals>>.

Mauro nods. 

<<Well, good evening. I kiss You>>.

<<Is there something that's going wrong?>>, she had already closed.

<<Troubles?>>.

<<I don't think. When she's busy, actually, is more an architect than a girlfriend. But, in any case, she's great!>>

The phone rings.

<<Yes, Gloria, we will be there in ten minutes>> and Gloria knows, however, they should be at least twenty then we will reach the kitchen and eat at her cooking that remembers my mother one. 

 


March, 11st

We have worked until 3.30 am, between beers, rum, SMS to Barbara until she has fallen asleep, and tests of the draw. We have chosen ten photos and we treated a little to harmonize the colour. It’s seems You are walking around the model, really more real because You can see the wood plan and the iron filing over it in and under the little menhir. But, you know: move the photos, divide the inner space between all, try again, turn back, and print one try. At 3.00 we said stop and we finished half an hour later. 

 


Barbara has called right when she woke up: her voice sounded dark, but she was cuddlesome. I didn't tell her about the night I had. I'll do a complete history for her. 

 


Now I'm collecting all the original of the documents and I put them in a big envelope. 

Now, the staff curricula: 30 pages paginated as a newspaper has really his nice effects. It’s not so rigid like a raw list of dates, facts and work, I've mixed up text and photos, the content will make the rest. And, don't forget, the portrait of Mauro, Raffaello an me!

I print it and ask Mauro where I can bind it. Mauro calls one of this staff and ask him to bind it, two copies. Then I ask for a box to start closing something. 

 


I'm waiting for Arnaldo and Maestro reports to start working at general report. 3.000 characters are really ridiculous: I've found that when You have to count characters in a text You have to consider punctuation too! So You just have to write only one page! And I have to press all contribution in a page, without create damage to everyone or removing something that could be of main point. Over all, I'm sure no one will help us. We're only three, Mauro, his son, who's working on lights, amid me: maybe it’s better this way, there a little time and a lot of things to do and to coordinate. It’s surely better this way.

Mauro is working on the draw. He has written the names of each member of the staff in a row, in the bottom; the name of the project in a top raw. It took a lot of time in choosing the font and the colour of the strings to harmonize all. We've choose a dark hot red, near to brown, but light than brown. The document chapter, the two cover have kept that font and that colour, so we print all again.

 


Raffaello calls me to take a picture of Arena sketch. Until we don't have the light we need, we take some photos and look them on the screen of Raffaello's laptop. Late in the morning, together with a lot of decisions to keep, just before lunch, we have the picture we need. The boy develops the imagine and send it to his father to put it in the main draw, where position and dimensions are already fixed. At 1.30 pm, late as usual, we go for a brief lunch. Mauro's is on the other side of a courtyard, he goes in studio by feet, no traffic. After a SMS morning, Barbara's phone is turned off, this never happened before. Mauro informs Gloria and his sons about the state of the job, saying we will finish tomorrow and Monday I'll be in Rome. Mauro has a great family, Gloria, Raffaello, Luca and Jessica, three wonderful sons. 

 


After dinner we stay a little in the patio, it’s a wonderful March, the sun is high. And a little stay, after this night, is very nice. I seat here waiting for a coffee and I call my Barbara. 

<<Hello!>>.

<<Hello! Why do You have turned off Your phone?>>.

<<Sorry, can I be busy and need to turn it off??>.

Voice has anger like never before.

<<What's the matter?>>.

<<I'm worried>>.

<<It couldn't be the work!>>.

<<I've 15 days of delay, it never happened to me before, never>>.

She's not so happy. now I understand the way she was in previous day. I don't know what to think. 

<<I don't know what to say. I can finish tomorrow and I can come home to stay with You>>. I miss her eyes and her freckles. 

<<What You come to do? To look me into my eyes? It doesn't fit for anything. Tomorrow I'll go to Volterra in the afternoon. Stay there!>>.

<<Is there something I can do?>>.

<<No, there's nothing You can do. Let's finish, we will meet>>.

It’s Saturday afternoon, I'll be back on Tuesday, I will not see her for three days more. 

<<Why, after You have finished in Volterra, don't You come to Rome?>>.

<<I've thought something like this, but now I don't think>> 

That's not true, fifteen days late, she didn't think it before now. 

<<Come, let's meet in Rome Monday afternoon>>.

<<Don't insist. Now I've to go. Bye>>.

I close asking when I'll hear her again.

I don't want a son, I've never thought to have another son. Who knows if he will be as Cristiana or Junior? Actually, I'd like too much to feel him grow, nearby every moment. This not the right time. Even Barbara may think it’s not worthwhile. 

Mauro arrives with a smile. 

<<What is happening?>>.

<<Barbara is two weeks late>>.

His face turns dark. 

In his hands there is a box of cigarettes. I don't smoke since June 2003, before I started to Moscow for a job and cultural tour. Sometimes, after eating Mauro compares with a bottle of rheum, today he has cigarettes. 

I keep them and light one.

<<What are You doing?>>.

This cylinder keeps me with all its troubles. 

<<How old is Barbara?>>.

<<46, next month>>.

My head doesn't turn: this time it doesn't turn for the first cigarette. 

<<Maybe she's not pregnant, come one! Maybe there is another reason>>.

I look Mauro, trying to understand what he's saying, he looks true. It seems he knows what he's saying.

<<Let's go working, another, please>>.

<<No>>.

<<I'll go to buy>>.

<<No, here it’s, stay>>.

 


Mauro sends me Maestro and Arnaldo’s reports and Raffaello the one of the lights. Arnaldo has done two so beautiful images of foundations that we decide to change again the draw to give them a right place. In the end, there's a void, but surely we will fill it.

I always think at Barbara, the trouble may concern the evening before we went to Rome in late February. This, anywhere, doesn't solve the problem. 

At dinner time I've completed those damned 3.000 characters, with some I've wrote in the name of our memorial, remembering those guys and completing with the summarize of the other report. At 7.30 I call Barbara. 

<<Hello! How's going?>>.

It’s seems like today we spoke about weather. I tell what we have done and about my fear Mauro should create something new. It’s not what I'd like to say, but it goes this way. 

<<What do You mean with something new?>>.

<<The last minute invention that sends everything away to start again, usual for great architect, you know>>. She smiles. 

<<How are You>>.

<<Well, now that I told I feel better>>.

<<You told me, what, please>>.

<<You're my sweet fool>>.

I feel her face lightning. 

<<I love You>>.

<<You say this only got I'm pregnant>>.

<<Except for the fact it’s not said>>.

<<That You love me or that I'm pregnant?>>.

<<Both of them>>.

<<Forget it, I don't think it’s right to speak about this by phone>>.

Silence. 

<<I love You too>>.

<<Barbara, You'll see It’s a false alarm. Don't worry>>.

<<Sure, don't forget that my uterus is by my side, not your side>>.

She doesn't want a son, I'm sure she doesn't. She's right: age, job, it’s almost impossible. 

<<Sure, but I'm sure, I don't know why, but I'm really sure>>.

<<And fir Spain?>>.

I've almost forgot the voyage on Wednesday in Castellon!

<<We go>>, that's right. 

<<And now what will You do?>>.

I ask Mauro and he tells me that we go out for dinner with Gloria. Barbara goes home, tomorrow she will wake early, not so much, obviously, to complete and go to Volterra. 

<<I'll call you tomorrow morning>>.

<<Good evening. Kiss You>>.

 


<<How's going>>.

<<It’s better, for the fact we talked about that trouble she feels better>>.

<<Great, let's go eating>>.

<<Before, I need a tobacco store>>.

 


March, 12th

We didn't work too late, we've seen a movie after dinner, and then we stayed in studio until 2.00 am

I've sent a message to Barbara for a good morning. 

The call arrives that I'm in my room.

<<Morning!>>.

<<Hello, how are You?>>.

<<Well, nothing has happened>>.

And for this it will be a good morning.

<<Come on, Barbara>>, if this has never before her<<maybe it’s not a problem>>.

<<I don't know, we'll have to see>>.

I light a cigarette. Listen: I've rarely smoked in the morning, for I was a teacher and I didn't smoke during the lessons. I've smoked at school when I was a student and never like a teacher, some colleagues smoke even in the classroom. If Mauro yesterday had a have a bottle of rum, now I could be drunk. And for a problem still to be faced. For me.

<<What about the time You leave?>> 

<<They're waiting me for dinner, I'm searching for train about 2.30 pm, it takes almost three hours to reach there. I want to be home for lunch, I've to prepare my suitcase>>.

Suitcase, this could be a sign. Actually she will stay out a day only, and a bag will be enough. Maybe she will come to Rome. 

<<I'm going, we have only to complete the draw>>.

<<Well, I'll call You when I'm home>>.

<<All right, have a nice job. Bye>>.

<<Byeeeeeee!>>

 


Mauro and Gloria are waiting me for breakfast. 

<<Do You sleep well?>>.

<<Yes, but only few hours, late in the night>>.

<<Graziano, I've thought>>

Here it’s, the late moment invention, the one that arrives a second before You've finished.

<<Don't worry, sometimes I thought too>> and I drink my coffee, but I'm really worried about. Mauro smiles. 

<<Stop You, mate. No, I though, knowing we don't have a digital rendering we can take the logo You made and create a photomontage>>.

I have thought something worst, like put the memorial in another place, reorganize the table, add some or delete some else. It’s simple: it takes only a photo on which put the model. It’s enough You have the same light, same shadow, same point of view. And You can't go "a moment in Shuster Park to take some other photos". Easy, don't You think? 

 


We start searching for the photos we need, looking to cathedral. My phone is near the keyboard.

In our photo, maybe on hundred and more, we don't find the right one. I remember the tender photos and begin to look them. Here it is: if logo is correct, we've made a big step beyond. I keep the logo and try to put him on the imagine. Raffaello arrives and look at the photo. I explain what we're trying to do.

<<Send me that photo, I'll try to design the esedra in>>.

Modifying the logo dimension, I've succeeded to put it in the photo, I delete the square and stay looking. There's something rather it’s not going on. Raffaello send me his job and seats near me. I keep the ellipse he modified to our esedra and put it in my montage. There are many troubles: light, colours, materials. Esedra is in travertine, menhir in iron. Raffaello touch his chin. 

<<I've found: we turn all in black and white so material will lose its own personality. Save it, I'll try>>: there always something that doesn't convince me. 

Mauro is not so happy of this solution and I don't know what will be the final result. Obviously, we can decide to leave this idea, but now it will be stupid. While Raffaello does his work, I seat near Mauro to complete the table and reorganize all. 

 


Gloria calls us: supper's ready, as Genesis said in "Foxtrot" album. When we arrive in the kitchen, Barbara calls me to say she will keep a train. I agree, almost 250 km (154 miles), alone, Sunday afternoon, it’s better. 

After dinner Mauro keeps rum and little glasses, another way to have a cigarette. 

 


Raffaello has almost finished: the photomontage seems complete, white and grey, tones are graduated, and there are menhir, esedra, the mystic path, a bench. But I feel that something is missing and I don't know what. Mauro says It’s over and asks him to send it to complete the draw.

"Wonderful tonight" starts.

 


<<I'm in Brignole railway station, 6.30 I'll be in Volterra. How deep are You?>>. 

<<We've almost finished, draw, documents, we have only to prepare the delivery, but there something missing>>, as I talk I look the monitor. 

<<How is there something missing??>.

<<Here it is, Barbara, thanks. There's no shadow! Every tree has its shadow, everything has its a shadow! Menhir doesn't have any shadow>>. I explain Barbara the photomontage, the black and white.

<<Go to design that shadows. See You later>>.

<<Mauro, come here and take a look>>.

<<Here I am>>.

I explain shadow theory, while I start studying how to do. Mauro doesn't seat, on my left. I find the position of the sun and let program shows the solution. Shadow gives menhir more emphasis, black and white give dramatic sense to the imagine. Mauro puts his hand on my shoulder.

<<Do You know how we will call that imagine? Protoimagine of the monument>>. "Protoimagine" is like "first imagine" and this is the first, not a rendering that often looks false. Here You have the entire main component fixed with the cathedral on the rear. 

I like it, protoimagine, prototype, the last invention and I want to know whose other has the model and a PROTOIMAGINE?

<<Search a hotel for tomorrow>>: here it is, the other missing thing. I open a booking site and insert days for search. Barbara could be in a not cover zone: she doesn't answer.

I choose a hotel in Prati zone, there's a private parking, so I can leave the bundle in my car.

 


<<It’s over, take a look>>.

The screen shows the result of our struggle, complete, coloured, Mauro is satisfied. Sometimes our job can really give satisfaction. 

<<I'll print to review>>.

<<And we prepare the bundle of papers>>.

While we are near the mountain of papers, W.T. is played in my phone.

<<Give a minute, maybe she's arrived>>.

<<Greet her>>.

 


<<I'm arrived, a taxi to the hotel, a shower and then dinner. And you?>>.

<<Everything is over, draw's is printing and Mauro's checking the rest>>.

<<At what time do You leave to Rome?>>.

<<I don't know yet, I'd like to be there at 3.00 pm It takes almost seven hour to join there. I've booked the hotel. Why?>>.

<<Nothing, I only check You and Your movement>>.

I smell the smell of a trap but I don't believe at all in it.

<<I call You later>>.

<<It will be better for You>>.

 


I keep the draw in the pocket of the plotter and bring it to the table where Mauro has counted the documents. 

It’s wonderful: in plants, a journey from far beyond close to the memorial and a tour around the model to make You see how it is. Down left the black coloured image of the night see and the protoimagine; on the right side, detail of lightning and structural images. Someone can put 3d images: we have the model, a real model. 

<<If You have some heavy card we can print and then put it on a cardboard as they ask>>.

<<I think I have a roll of 120 gr per square meter>>.

<<It would be the one we need>>. The heavy card resists to glue when we put it on the cardboard. 

While Mauro goes to keep the roll I correct some little mistakes we've found.

When the plotter is ready, I send it the draw with a low printing at the higher definition. Then I print all in PDF format and prepare a CD to deliver too.

On the table there are three groups of everything: the original and two copies, one for Mauro and one for me, third one will go to Rome tomorrow. Who knows?

We just take a break in the garden, a beer and a cigarette. Printing will take a lot of time.

 


Barbara calls. 

<<Are You smoking?>>.

<<No! I'm out of breath, stairs, age, You know>>.

<<Mmmh, I don't know. What are You doing?>>.

<<Everything is over, we're printing and we have closed the papers>>.

<<Tomorrow?>>.

<<The hotel is in Prati neighbourhood, near Cavour Square>>.

<<It’s like You are talking me about aortic aneurism. I don't understand anything>>.

<<If You could come in Rome>>.

<<But I won't be there, so>>.

<<How are You?>>.

<<I feel well. I've left a message to my gynaecologist, in the afternoon>>.

 


If I should understand she is worry, this is the proof. She has called her doctor on Sunday!

<<And then?>>. 

<<Nothing, don't worry>>.

<<No, how I can! You don't smile since two weeks, You didn't tell me the matter. Yes, I can do nothing, even if I look into Your eyes>>.

<<Graziano, forget it, take it as it is a private question>>.

<<Sure, and I?>>.

<<You, I love You, I take full responsibility of what I said to You>>.

<<Oh yes, but I was there and I repeat, maybe It’s a false alarm>>.

<<And how do You know?>>.

<<I feel so>>.

<<Do You eat there?>>.

<<I think so. Tomorrow I'll wake early in the morning>>.

<<Well, I go to sleep. Tomorrow I've a meeting at 8.30 am>>.

<<So early?>>.

<<They have a Board of Directors at 10 and I've to explain the financial plan to the CEO>>.

<<And do You think he can understand?>>.

She smiles.

<<Stop it, I have to do it. I should have to be paid for six month of job!>>.

<<If You ever blink Your eyes like You do to me, he will pay the next six months>>.

<<Don't say this. I'll call You later>>.

<<I'll wait for You>>.

<<Kiss You>>.

 


Mauro and Raffaello are trying the draw and the cardboard, that greater than the sheet. 

<<We will paste and then we cut the dashboard>>.

Raffaello sprinkles the glue with a brush: we unroll the sheet slowly little by little, making pressure with two white cut-outs. There's no damp patch, the surface is perfectly horizontal. Raffaello keeps a cutter and sinks the blame helped with an aluminium straight ruler. He cuts with a maddening slowness, along the longest side of the draw, 120 cm (48 inches) that seems to never end. After this side, he cuts the other three. Fantastic.

Mauro keeps a ream of wrapping paper and we, really, finally close everything. The package is enormous. We've packaged the draw with two sheets of paper and signed on the adhesive ribbon on the borders. Then we have tied up with a string, fixed with sealing wax with a seal Mauro chose. In the middle of the package we've put a sheet with the name of the project and list of the staff. The box with the papers is packaged in the same way.

<<I go to keep the car>>.

 


I've moved the seat: three doors in a car.

Mauro and Raffaello have the package in horizontal position and they support it on the flatcar: I keep one side and with Mauro we put it on back seat. Then the box finishes in front of it, to hold it stopped. 

Raffaello takes some photo to fix this moment. Two of us stay near the car and the third takes the picture. Then Mauro calls Gloria for the last photo. 

 


I call Barbara. I mess her.

 


<<You too>>.

I hope I can see her before Thursday. 

<<And so, do you have finish?>>. 

<<We have finished and everything is on my car>>.

<<At what time do You leave Bergamo?>>.

<<About 7.30, it takes almost 7 hours to reach Rome. I'll take the road from Brescia, so I avoid Milan bypass road. I'll cross Appennini at Roncobilaccio. I don't know this way, but I know Milan bypass road and its traffic at around 8.00 am>>.

<<So You will arrive around 2.30 pm>>.

<<And You?>>.

<<They called me a few minutes ago, they are coming to accompany me in their centre. I'll finished around 9.45 and I hope they will pay me>>.

<<You should apply the theory of my Friend Ax, remember the one who named PC with XV century architects names>>.

<<I remember, but this time I can't>>.

<<It works! If the customer doesn't pay he goes away with the project!>>.

<<Only You know people like this!>>.

<<Forget it. We go for dinner>>.

<<All right, good night>>.

<<Thank to You. Golden slumbers>>.

<<Thank You, Sweet!>>.

I look at the phone, I close and stand looking her eyes. I've to keep all my things in studio, help Mauro to clean, eat, sleep and leave from Rome. Man, after four years I'll be there for the third time in 14 days! Before sleeping I send a message to Barbara asking to call me when she wakes up.

 


March, 13rd

I left before 8.00 just after Barbara called me for the good morning. I've queued on the highway until Roncobilaccio, along the slop up to the pass. Trough Florence and after there's no traffic troubles. I stop after Arezzo for a coffee and Barbara called me to tell me that everything has gone very well and that they paid all. She was in Livorno railway station. 

 


<<Where are You?>>.

<<Settebagni, I'm leaving A1 highway, it lasts 40 minutes>>.

<<Well, I'll call You later>>.

When I enter the G.R.A., I call Mauro.

<<Is everything fine?>>.

I tell him about Roncobilaccio and a boring trip.

<<Graziano, it’s 2.20, It’s better You try to deliver today>>.

<<I think so, tomorrow I may find some troubles, traffic, and parking>>.

<<You said office is near Campidoglio, in the centre>>.

<<Yes and I have to park and keep the packages!>>.

<<And what it will be!!>>.

He smiles: obviously I always walk in the centre of a town with a package 130x95 cm (52x38 inches), in Rome it could be the same. My phone plays "W.T.".

<<Mauro, sorry, Barbara's calling, hear You later>>.

 


<<Where are You?>>.

<<Lungotevere Flaminio>>.

<<How far are You from Termini station?>>.

One standstill at a semaphore lets me change the trip on navigation device. I don't understand. A doubt keeps me.

<<15 minutes>>.

<<Wait a minute. Which is the name of this street? Thank You. We will see in Giolitti St., other right of the railway station>>.

<<But where are You?>>.

My heart is at Termini station.

<<Now I tell You what I will do. I'll keep Your bag, I call a taxi and tell it hotel address>>.

<<And I come back in Genova now!>>.

She surprises me again.

<<Come on, I'm arriving>>.

<<Move>>.

I reach the station in time, just to search my heart. Giolitti St. is a complete mess: everyone is searching for someone, people arriving, leaving, and cars everywhere. I see Barbara on the edge of the sidewalk with luggage on the ground. I stop the car the more near I can. All around nothing, someone's looking at that girl. I pick up my heart and hug her strongly. When we divide I watch deeply in her eyes. Her face is happy but it looks she's worried for the problem of the problems 

<<You really don't succeed in doing this>> and she kiss me.

No, I can't succeed. I look into her eyes, then I keep her bags and put them in the trunk. last time I put something here we were in Genova. Barbara looks at the package and we go to the hotel. I'm in Rome with a girl, first time was in 1968, with Susanna, and sometimes we were in Trinitá dei monti with the hippies.

 


During the journey we speak about Volterra and Barbara says she likes to go there with me, the city is beautiful. 

When we arrive I go asking for parking. The concierge asks me for a document and tells me that I can park in the garden near the hotel, he's opening the gate.

 


The room, this time, is near the lift. There is old fashioned furniture and the bed has a stuffed heading, there is a little table with two armchairs. After a short checking in the bathroom, We put our clothes out of the bags. 

<<It’s almost 4.00: I'd like to go to deliver, do want to come with me?>>.

<<Sure! Only a minute>> and she goes in the bathroom.

<<It closes at 5.00!>>.

<<Well, then I'll stay so, without dressing again>>.

 


When she comes back, she keeps her purse.

<<I'll change my dresses before dinner>>.

 


We keep the car with its important packages and go into Rome, with gps device Rome has no secret.

To find a park in Teatro di Marcello St. it’s really hard and we find it from the other side than Montanara St. side. A light wind breaths in the air, maybe created by Tourist Office. 

Montanara St. is inside an old buildings neigh borough and we can't see number 8. We ask to some people standing near a bar and I've to lean the package on a foot: It’s very heavy. The question creates a crisis in the men: two scratch the head, one tries to say that he knows where the 8 is, but he's not so sure. The last one tells us to ask at that main door where maybe someone knows something. One hundred meters (110 yards) before. Barbara smiles: awful. 

 


Number 8 is an old desecrated church! This is way no one knows! In the reception they say we have to keep the elevator then follow the stairway. The stairway?

 


Barbara leads me until the hallway and trough the stairway that I climb on a side, crossing my legs and moving foot by foot, for the stairway is very narrow. Last steps live only with what remain of my breath.

 


On official with jacket and jeans stands before a giant table and looks at a register. 

<<Are you here for the tender?>>.

<<No, we are here only to check the stairway>>.

He smiles, what he has to smile.

<<Please, wait, I call the Director>>. And he goes to a glass pane door. He can do and go where he wants. It’s 4.40 pm, I'm in and this is the only thing that matters. 

Just the time to lean our packages on the floor that the door opens and a lady compares, one of that ladies that "when I was young I was a nice woman and still I am" and she knows. Higher than Barbara, dark blond hair, silk brown blouse, brown skirt. 

<<I'm Dr. Anna Cruciani, secretary of the tender>> and I introduce ourselves as Architect Greco and Farni.

<<Well, You come from Bergamo!>>.

<<Bergamo, Genova and Milan, Dr.>>.

Cruciani keeps the register and writes the name of Maestro as sender. Barbara's checking and she suggests the name of the project. Anna keeps a notepad, looks her watch and writes. 

<<This is Your receipt, Your protocol number is 59>>.

<<Sorry, Dr. Cruciani, 59 receives since 3.00, today?>>.

<<Yes and I've asked for another warehouse to keep the packages>>.

I don't finish to be surprised that someone arrives at the top of the stair, with a package in his hands that seems to be lighter than mine, he's not struggling. At least, anyway for today, I will not be the last.

<<Well, Dr. Cruciani. Goodbye!>>.

We shake our hands and Barbara greeds in a very professional and warm way, with a great smile that's saying "don't try to forget this project".

 


The centre aisle of the church contains a sculptures exhibition, all in Plexiglas boxes. Barbara takes my hand and leads to visit the exhibition. While we're looking the boxes, a phone rings and she puts one hand in her bag and keeps her phone. Not just a phone, a spaceship of new generation, with 16:9 screen! 

<<Hello!>> and she asks me to wait a minute with a wave of her hand. Barbara moves to the exit of the aisle and continues talking in the monster. I continue examination. Little sculptures are interesting but I don't like anyone, really. 

 


Barbara comes back, with the phone in her hand.

<<I've talked with my gynaecologist>>, her eyes fixed in mine. I can't resist to those eyes, maybe for You It’s not still clear. I don't understand what the doctor has said.

<<She told me that I'm late for an inflammation which I had some days ago>>.

She didn't tell me anything about.

<<When we came back from Rome, I got cystitis just before the period>>.

<<And so?>>.

<<So she told me not to worry that is worst>>.

She's not relieved but it seems like she feels better, even her face is looking the floor.

<<It seems You're sorry>>.

<<I'd like much if she would tell me something definitive in a way or another, better in one>>.

<<There will be no need, You will see>>.

 We exit the church and go to Teatro Di Marcello St.

<<Do You see that building like Coliseum? In '800 it was transformed in houses>>.

 


We reach Guinevere, my car. I keep Barbara by an arm. 

<<Do you feel better?>>.

She smiles and blinks.

<<I have to feel better, I know>>.

<<But?>>.

<<But now, You know, I stop. That's enough, let's think about us>>.

The little wind sent by Tourist office moves her hair.

<<Think about Yourself, when You're right You've only to tell me>>.

<<I can't think about myself, it’s You to be here, I wanna think about You>>.

I move her hair and she stops my hand on her face.

<I don't want You to be worry>>.

I don't know what to do and I wanna talk about she's probably pregnant. 

 


Some years ago, a friend of mine went pregnant. And not for her husband.

She asked me to help her and we go at Pietra Ligure Hospital where a friend of mine was the chief of Gynaecology Area. In three days, in a total privacy, everything was over, under clinical point of view. Caterina suffered for almost six month, destroyed between abortion and the pity for she had betrayed her husband. The abortion seemed, was the most heavy problem. She was going from feeling well to heavy crisis that I wanted to live with her. When I don't succeed I felt bad and sad, but never, never like her. Those mood changes lasted since when, a Saturday, almost six month later, she came in Passo Paveranetti and talked with me for hours and hours, till she decided to get out completely, starting with a long and sweet kiss to thanks me. From that day she didn't talk more with me about abortion and as she didn't with me she could talk about it only with a person: Caterina. But I think till now, she doesn't. 

 


I don't want to see, to know that Barbara's suffering.

<<What do You want to do?>>.

<<Can we go somewhere?>>.

Nice, I don't have any idea where to go or what to do.

<<Via del Corso?>>. It starts from Popolo Sq. and stops in Venice Sq. otherwise, E.U.R. but It’s more far away.

<<All right, there we go>>.

 


When we started, I keep a phone.

<<I've to inform Mauro and the other, even Paul, Andrea and Roby>>.

<<Come on, that's the time>>.

Before I call Maestro, the simple call to do. Then Mauro.

<<How has it been>>.

<<Not so well. We were stopped by police>> and Barbara [1] ooks at me really surprised

<<And now?>>.

<<Nothing. They were investigating us for detention and intent>>.

A fulfilling silence.

<<Detection and intent of astonishing projects>>.

Barbara breaks out in a gorgeous smile.

<<Crazy mate, is everything fine?>>.

<<Surely, we have number 59. You were right: it has been better to deliver today and Barbara's here with me>>.

<<This is really nice, give Barbara a kiss by me. Who have You talk with?>>.

<<Only Maestro>>.

<<Well, I'll inform the rest of the staff. And now what will You do?>>.

<<We're going to Via del Corso>>.

<<Great, greed Barbara for me and enjoy, hear You tomorrow>>.

I ask gps device for Via del Corso and it answers 2,2 miles, most along Tevere river. I start and call Paul, Andrea and Roby under the heavy look of Architect Greco. Then I turn off my phones theatrically under the pleasant [2] ook of Ms Barbara Greco Architect. My world is over, three friends and Barbara, add Mauro. What do I really need more? Junior and Cristiana, you know. 

 


We arrive near Pietro Nenni Bridge and I find to park my car. Barbra keeps my arm and we go to Popolo Sq. the obelisk is closed by scaffolding. This must be my destiny: the first time in Paris, Notre Dame cathedral was wrapped by scaffolding, the same for St. Basilio Cathedral in Red Square in Moscow. Probably the voice that I'm arriving spreads out and someone decides to cover the most famous monuments. Although, the square is very beautiful. 

<<This place remembers me Claudio Baglioni and College>>.

<<College?>>.

<<Yes, one of the first tests I did talked about urbanist development from here to Fori Imperiali, with the development of roads and buildings>>.

<<Nice, let's go>>. She keeps her spaceship and she takes some pictures of the twin churches, Santa Maria dei Miracoli and Santa Maria Di Monte Santo. There are a lot of people that's walking, tourists, Romans, at least two people from Genova, nice shops that Barbara looks carefully. We turn into Condotti St. and we reach Piazza Di Spagna, near Tritone Fountain, beyond Trinitá dei Monti staircase, with all its greatness. I see a young boy, with the hair parted, a lock, near a girl with long wavy black air, he's smoking, they are seated on the steps. 

<<What's the matter, You look sad?>>.

<<For a moment I've seen myself there seated, 38 years ago>>.

She keeps my face in her hands. 

<<Something sad?>>.

<<No, absolutely, only a strange feeling>>.

<<Do You come here after?>>. 

<<No, it’s not for this, I've seen myself with my little first love, with strange hair and cigarettes>>. Barbara goes to the staircase, climbs some steps, seats and invites me to do the same. Marble is cold.

<<Now it needs just cigarettes>> and she hangs to my arm. I keep the cigarettes. 

<<What are You doing?>>.

I tell her what happened Saturday after the telephone call. I light a cigarette while Barbara gets her head down. I tell how I feel, usually to be a part of her life and to be out of her life for such a thing for all that time. 

<<Actually, I hope there would be noting to tell, that period starts again and everything straighten out>>. 

<<There was nothing to straighten. Don't do it no more, don't let me again out of things like these. Now, the doctor has said something, so I want You to be fine>>. 

Barbara's still looking the step on which we are seated. 

<<I wanted to protect our love>>.

It’s incredible: she did all for me, to be the only to be responsible, like it was a private thing. 

<<All right, but now it’s over>>, just like the night when her friend came to her.

<<I love You, but we live together, we live a life together. And life is a place where nothing is clearer than what one likes to hide. And You are not able to hide a mood, a state of mind. Not about the reason, this was impossible to understand, but it was clear that something was happening, something was going wrong>>.

Barbara's eyes have almost worn out the marble step.

<<I've made another mistake>>.

<<Listen: it’s not just a mistake. You've decided also for me. Can I disagree with You? About killer problems I've told You all>>.

<<You're right. Now, stop. I apologize>>.

Have You ever kissed a girl in Trinitá dei Monti between hundreds of people? Don't do it, You could never stop.

<<Do we go?>>.

And we leave the warmest step and start to Babuino Av., just on the right the square. We enter a bar for a drink. We decide for the restaurant in Trastevere where we were last time with Mauro and Gloria. 

<<Maybe I've still the number>> and she keeps her device, I can hardly call it telephone.

<<Hello?>>.

...

<<I'd like to book for two>>.

...

<<Farni, Architect Farni>>.

...

<<8.00 will be nice>>.

...

<<All right, see You later>>.

It’s 7.15, she will remain dressed this way, that's a nice dressing. 

She drinks a Martini cocktail and I choose for a Negroni: it’s a mystery, in a bar in Babuino St. the bartender doesn't know Caipirinha! Barbara proposes a toast with her little eyes blinking. 

 


There's some traffic, along Tevere river, it’s Monday, who knows why. We park just after Trilussa Square, a lucky break. Or it’s the sign this is really a nice day: the tender, the gynaecologist, the conversation with Barbara. And the restaurant that gives us a table in a secluded, Romantic area.

We eat a Roman menu: "carciofi alla Giudia, tonnarelli alla Gricia, abbacchio a scottaditto and Castelli white wine", it’s not original, but it’s good.

Barbara is seated right in front of me, happy then before with bright eyes. This day has been important, even if was not programmed. Alone together, to speak together has been good, very good. We were never together like this before, even during weekends.

Two glasses of whisky close the evening. To pay is the usual fight, closed with "the younger will pay". On that fact I tell Barbara that I can hear this and that since next time we will act in another way.

Air is a little hot.

<<Do You like Trastevere or Rome tour?>>.

<<What?>>.

I know her.

<<A walk in Trastevere or a tour to see Vaticano and Coliseum, other places?>>.

I know she's a slipper lover and she like to be at her home. 

<<Farni, I'd like more Rome by night. For a walk another time>>. 

<<Let's go>> and I ask gps device to go the hotel through Vaticano and Coliseum. I'd like a city in the night. I've seem London, Paris, Barcelona and several Italian ones. In Rome it’s the first time. Barbara appreciates very much and keeps her hand on my shoulder like Paul says in "Hey Jude" all time long.

 


When we are in our room, she hugs me for a long time. When Barbara open the bathroom door she wears white towelling, she takes it off and wears only her underpants. She comes beneath the sheets and lies upon me. 

<<I don't want to make love, but we will have a party. Let me do>> and after a kiss she slides down.

 


March, 14th

We slept close. She didn't like to have nothing and I hardly fell asleep. At 7.00 I woke up, we have to go to Genova and prepare to reach Castellon tomorrow. 

When Barbara wakes up she keeps my nose with two fingers.

<<How are You?>>.

I think You will not be surprised if I tell You she spreads all over the bed, then goes closer on my shoulder and stays a while curled up.

<<I feel very well, a great sleep. You'll see>> and she gets up. It’s 7.30.

A few minutes later, my girl opens the doors and leans again the door jamb, completely naked.

Genova can wait.

 


March, 15th

I've talked with Ms Cruciani: she told that they received 158 projects. 99 in three hours.

Shit!

 


We're in Malpensa 2000 airport, nothing to do with Genova airport. Listen, we left our car in a parking and a shuttle brought us here in twenty minutes.

 


The company is funny, architects coming from several cities, the farer one comes from Udine. Every introduction is useless: too many people, too many names: without a personal badge after few minutes who can remember 15/16 names? Luckily we are the last, so there will be no more presentations. The only one I remember is Pedro Marqueña, that knows Barbara very well and he is our guest man for Italy. For all Italy, try to imagine how Barbara is important. Pedro tells me this is the second time he succeeds to have Barbara in Castellon and he is proud to have us together. That means Barbara told him something about Farni. He gives everyone his ticket to Valencia and tells us we will reach Castellon by a private luxury bus. There, late today, tomorrow and Friday morning we will visit the farms, then we are free to visit Castellon in the afternoon and to visit Valencia where they will take us Saturday morning to come back in the afternoon. Everything is programmed that remember me someone, don't You think?

 


In Castellon, the hotel is a high quality one, we register and keep agree for 8.30 dinner. Our camera is at 6th floor, very large, with some components signed with the name of our guest. On 26" TV compares a welcome for both of us and the instructions, for the camera, refrigerator, and web connection. Only a thing: all in English. Walls in woven and floor in carpet: if You sneeze You don't hear Yourself. Bathroom in black marble, two glass washbasins, double places shower, TV audio.

Barbara is almost my Barbara: she turns around the room in underpants and bra. She keeps a bottle of Spanish champagne and fills two glasses. We drink smiling: Barbara speaks Spanish like she speaks Italian. My Spanish looks like a cartoon language. 

<<Come on: how did You find Spain>>.

<<It’s easy: it’s on the left of Sardinia>>. She leaves the glass and quickly keeps a pillow and tries to hit me: I can save myself and my glass for a miracle. 

<<It’s the same Ringo Starr said about Greenland and USA!>>.

<<Come here! I'll give You, Ringo Starr!>> 

<<Leave the pillow, let's drink or I'll pure the champagne on You!>>.

Barbara is really gorgeous: pillow kept back on her left shoulder and messy hair down on her face, on her knees on the bed. She leaves the pillow, wears her slippers and keeps her glass.

<<Be careful: how did You find Spain?>>.

<<I plead the Fifth Commandment! I didn't have found still Spain, I've found other things. For the moment, my verdict is positive, but for You not certainly for Spain. I had never been here before>>. 

She looks at me across. She doesn't really know what to think about my answer, but her eyes are smiling. 

<<Well, Farni, that's nice, let's toast>>.

The problem of the problems seems so far, smaller and smaller, hidden in a corner of Barbara's eyes, exiled in a place in her mind. Gynaecologist phone call had had his strength, nor like my opinion. And if the problem could be she thinks I'm not the right one?

 


We're ready for dinner: Barbara wears a light blue suite and a grey coat, hair in a ponytail and almost nothing make up. When we cross the hall people turns to look at Barbara that walking one foot from the floor. 

 As soon as we arrive Marqueña gets up to reach us. Barbara would have done many projects with his farm. 

<<Ola! Is everything fine, Barbara, Sr. Graziano?>>.

<<Nice, do You like something to drink?>>. 

<<No, thank, I can't drink with every guess, I'll get drunk before dinner>> 

<<With every guess, but I'm a new one!>>.

<<Ok, vamos>>.

Barbara chooses a Martini cocktail, Pedro and I a sangria that owing to Pedro opinion is the best one in all Castellon. There's nothing to eat and sangria fills a big glass: Pedro is right, with those portion he sure can go drunk after a couple, three of them. Pedro tells us how near is the restaurant is near and even there's a lot of people that is not yet here, we will eat in a while. I'm in time, that rare.

<<If we go where we have eaten last time, we will amuse. I ate very well. I'll tell You nothing more>>.

 


The restaurant is really close to the hotel, three blocks. While we're reaching Pedro tell me the sad notice. 

<<Take a look, after we will be there>>: and Marqueña shows me a discotheque. I look at Barbara that, as answer, blinks me.

 Dinner is fantastic, from the starters, vegetables and the famous pata negra ham, cut with knife, to the bread and a tasted red wine, viñho tinto. The waitresses bring some stone plates on an aluminium structure.

<<Be careful, they're hot>>. 

Barbara keeps my hand.

<<Now we'll have the best>>.

A waiter brought two trays, one with raw meat and the other with little green peppers. Then a bowl of big salt arrives on the table. 

<<Take a look>>: Barbara puts some salt on a slate, a few seconds and meat and peppers go on the slate too. Everyone does the same. Barbara turns everything. I fear that peppers are spicy, that my mother liked so much. They are sweet and meat is great and the side with salt is crystallized. I fill the slate and Barbara talks with a waiter. 

<<He asked me how it is and I told him it’s good>> and she touches her head.

<<I'm getting a headache>>.

<<Now?>>

<<Yes>>.

 When I know that some has a headache I go sad, my headache is chronic and hereditary. 

<<Do You have something in the hotel?>>.

<<I don't know, I'll see later>>.

A waiter leaves meat and peppers on the table, no one else asked for something. We eat all and everyone turns to see us. Pedro asks everyone how's going and answer that meat was just, in Spanglish. To complete dinner I take "catalana cream", I don't like cakes, but Barbara convinces me to taste it. Barbara gets always the headache, I think it’s a diplomatic o tiredness headache. When we leave the restaurant it’s 11.30 pm 

 


The headache is true, Barbara is really suffering. She smiles to Pedro, apologizing for we come back to the hotel, she's so tired that she gets a headache so strong that she likes to go to sleep. She's tired, like I supposed.

We go back to the hotel in each other's arms In the hotel bar, we drink a Carlos Primero for Barbara and 16 years scotch for me. We go to the lift hand in hand. Barbra falls asleep almost soon and I just can hear her snoring that I fall asleep. 

 


March, 16th

My mouth is full of rubber, maybe the scotch left his sign. Barbara is not in bed and no noise comes from the bathroom. Curtains hide the weather.

<<Farniiiiiii!>>: Barbara's voice is sweet and silvery. 

I get up and go to the bathroom.

<<What's the matter?>>.

She has only underwear and her face is lighted up, she jumps in my arms that we risk to fall on the carpet. If love means that two persons become one, we are very close.

<<The period is arrived again!>>.

She throws her arms round my neck and I hold her tightly and this time she doesn't complain, holding me strongly too.

<<Do You have nothing to say?>>.

<<No, I like to taste this moment. If before You were beautiful, now You are wonderful>>.

Barbara blinks her eyes at the speed of light.

<<I adore You>>.

<<By the way, stop blinks that way, I can't stand it>>, I've said. 

<<Don't You like it?>>.

<<I like it very much>> and she blinks again.

<<Come on! Tell me about the matter with You>>.

<<You'll be hungry. The headache, yesterday evening>>.

<<What?>>.

<<It could be a sign, but I don't want to create expectations, illusions>>.

<<That's right, there a privacy in personal troubles>>: I'm lying. That really pisses me off because she cut me off again, but I don't wanna mess her happiness.

<<I was afraid I could understand bad, I know You don't like I cut You off, but it was only for I was unsure. I improvised on what to do>>.

Last time she has improvised I was under charge for some murders. 

We seat on the bed: I don't have to open the curtains to understand what day it will be.

<<What will we do>>.

<<We will have a great breakfast, then we go with Pedro and the others to visit the farm. Went we will be back here, we will decide>>.

I don't know where Pedro will take us but I don't mind. Barbara brings me my razor and goes to the bathroom. I'm thinking what these two days should be without that news and what they will be after this. Surely, Barbara is back, she's again the lighted Barbara I know. 

 


<<Ola, Barbara! You should have a great sleep, you're a flower! Graziano, como vas?>>.

Barbara gets up and hugs him: there could not be a better help, I feel myself happy. I send a message to Mauro: his answer is “Whoop!".

 


The farm is very great and the visit is very interesting. They take us everywhere, but not in the furnaces, industrial secret. 

At lunch, Pedro takes us in an internal restaurant, near the main gate. After starters, two waitresses show us a great paellera with fantastic paella for all the present. I hope it’s not overcooked, that's probably what it is. Rice for twenty people, I'm afraid. 

 


<<Do You like it?>>.

<<Yes, I've cooked paella but for nine people not twenty. It is cooked very well>>. I ask for second dish, Barbara looks at me surprised. 

 


The afternoon is for a natural stones farm, where they transform the stones even with one machine that treats surfaces with fire.

 


After a coffee break they lead us back to the hotel. After a day we passed walking, the room in what we need. After a shower I go to the great bed with Barbara. 

 


When I wake up Barbara is not here and there’s no sign about her. She comes out of the bathroom almost naked and she tiptoes on the carpet. 

<<There the carpet on the floor, you don't have to tiptoe!>>.

<<Good afternoon, my snoring sleepyhead! I'm tiptoeing for I don't have any shoe and to not disturb You. I need to go in a drugstore, will You come with me?>>.

<<Sure, let's go>>.

I look my Barbara. She's really a wonderful woman, now that she's happy, she's much more beautiful. 

 


At reception, Barbara asks for a drugstore. In the speech I understand only "Plaza". 

The evening is warm, Barbara seems to know the way and we go around in Castellon de la Plana. She enters the drugstore, and I wait outside, then we walk around till dinner time. Can this joy hurt us? 

 


For lunch we go in another restaurant and we stay in a table with happiness that it’s not a warm gun. 

 


I'm sure: tonight we can't avoid the discotheque. We can't either say one of us is pregnant. 

 


March, 17th

We prepare our bags, we will not be back here and tomorrow Valencia is waiting for us. A disco for breakfast and Barbara is looking better and better, she was really a lot, cheeses, croissants, cakes, orang misuse, mile and coffee.

<<What's the matter, You're not hungry>>.

<<It’s not me, You are eating a lot so it seems I'm not hungry>>.

<<Maybe you're in love>>.

<<Maybe>> and she blinks me.

Pedro's compliments arrived safely soon as he is in breakfast room and I go to keep the baggage.

 


In the morning we visit bathroom furniture farm, always very interesting. For lunch, another internal restaurant, today meat and fish, pata negra and cheeses, wine and beer, they call cerveza. The cerveza I drink seems like bitter water and I hardly hide my disgust.

<<What happens?>>.

<<This beer is the reason for You don't like beer>>.

<<Why?>>.

<<It’s awful!>>.

<<Tell it to Pedro!>>.

<<No, forget it, it’s the same, I'll drink something else>>.

When Pedro comes to our table, she asks to him to taste a beer. Pedro keeps a glass fills it and his face changes as soon the liquid arrives in his lips. He calls two waiters to bring every beer away from every table, then he disappears in a door near the bar. The other guest doesn’t understand anything.

In the afternoon they show us a farm where they make claddings and floor with a process that makes surfaces as they were a long time ago. Also this is pretty nice. At 4.35 we get on the bus to Valencia. Last time I was there six years ago, with an organized trip of architects to celebrate Santiago Calatrava works and career. We, a girl friend of mine and the other colleagues, turned around and around without really see anything that I could remember. I'd like to see Barbara in Ciudad de las Artes e las Ciencias by Calatrava, I'd want to know if she does the same she did in Fori Imperiali. The second evening in Valencia, it was October 30. And when I was back in my room, I read on Teletext George Harrison was gone. I felt like empty, a piece of me was gone too. Junior sent me a message: "Dad, a sad notice for You, George is gone". I asked my friend to go with the other and called Paul who told he was sad for it was a really sad day. Later my colleague and my friend came in our bedroom and they got me to come down. One of them, who knew me very well, explained to the other that for me George's death was like the death of one of my family. After dinner some fool founded a guitar and asked me to play something. Owing to Your opinion, what would I have to play? "While my guitar gently weeps", of course, that I've never played before alone in the way Paul and I arranged it. Next day I read all the newspapers I've found. But George was gone.

 


The hotel is near "la Ciudad". Even this hotel is a high rated one, the room is great, beautiful and comfortable.

<<It’s not so bad>>.

<<Sure, it’s not a home, we can do stay here>>.

<<Crazy sugar>> she's dressed only wish her underwear.

<<I go for a shower>>.

<<And I'll search dresses for this evening>>.

Even the bathroom has the name of our guest on washbasin plan. There's something curious: here too, the shower is so large to hold two people. 

 


In the room, television is on an MTV channel, Barbara is under sheets,

<<Come here, I'll give You an ounce of cuddles>>. I know I don't have to think but I have only to extemporize. Like she does. 

 


Barbara has prepared blue jeans, light blue shirts and blue coats. We look like the Blue Brothers, Los Blue Hermanos!

 


We get in the hall, that is too modern and cold, before I don't see it so, maybe I was thinking at other stuffs. Maybe, for I'm relaxed, maybe for Barbara, but this place looks very cold. We choose a Negroni and a Caipirinha, for I've saw a bottle of caçhaça I like more. 

Pedro is with some other colleagues and as soon as he sees us left the group and joins us.

<<Tonight we will eat in a restaurant nearby. Tomorrow everyone is free, you've only to be here inside 5.00 for bus to the airport>>.

<<Can we do what we want, really?>>.

Military coups are not her target, who knows what's in her head. I'd like to visit ciudad, but before I have to wait what it will happen this evening, if someone has some ideas. I hope they don’t, I'd like ciudad and true paella.

 


March, 18th

Yesterday evening I've eat very bad, everyone was really not satisfied for dinner. Pedro apologizes in the name of the firm. The disgust was so high that many people went back to the hotel, some other had a tour in the city and so no discotheque for anyone! Evening has been closed at hotel piano bar. I played on an acoustic guitar that was there. I remember when Paul and I play together and he gives me the tune. I'm a little out of key, while my mother had a soprano voice. 

I've played for Barbara "Wonderful tonight" and "If", from Pink Floyd's "Atom Hearth Mother”: Barbara's eyes were shiny. I've never ever played so well. Yes, the tune is not so high and Robert Plant, Ian Gillan and Freddie Mercury had unachievable voices, but something I can sing. There were some other guests but this didn't stop me. I've played alone with three hundred people listening in a courtyard of a church, I was on stage with my friend in a cage when I was in high school with an attendance of over 1.000 people, even when I was in Russia, in a restaurant near Moscow, with Russians and Italians, I've played Lucio Battisti and Gino Paoli: I have a poker face and I've no fear to be myself when I can. But before I never sang like yesterday. 

Barbara, when "If" was over kissed me softly keeping my head in her hand. 

 


I too had some troubles, I had to go in the bathroom, this night, several time. Barbra has no problem. This morning troubles have continued. Barbara suggests me a drug she's sure will solve the troubles. We go for breakfast.

Pedro tells us many guests told him about stomach pains and intestine troubles, so everyone is late.

<<I've done, I've had a hell night>>.

<<I will tell to the restaurant to complain for the dinner>>.

<<It’s useless, the troubles are in and there's nothing they can do>>.

<<I have to tell them, sure. What do You think: may we let those who are sane to go where they want?>>.

Barbara looks at me.

<<We'd like to see something, if You tell us what You will do, we will adjust us>>.

I'm sure Pedro like Barbara to be part of the group, but I'm sure he doesn't have any group.

<<Flight is 7.00, so we have to be here almost at 5.00 pm., for the bus. You can leave luggages here. For lunch I don't know, in this moment it’s better I don't suggest anything>>.

<<Come on, Pedro, don't say so, it’s not Your fault!>>.

<<Thank You>>.

<<Pedro, those who feel bad can’t do the trip in that condition, they maybe need a doctor or at least a drugstore. We will hear for dinner>>.

<<Well, hear You later>>.

And he goes away, he's really upset. 

Barbara smiles: I take the pill she gave me with an orange juice. Ten minutes after I've to go to our room.

 


Barbara's says the pill had worked and I will not have more problems. Really I feel better, but, anyway, I'll eat rice, oh yes, I will.

 


We reach "la ciudad" with a walk, it’s so near that we can see it from our room. It’s really nice: a museum, an oceanographic, a theatre, a hanging garden over a car park, a planetarium and, most of all, a perfect urbanistic insertion, even with some architectural mistakes that sign often Calatrava projects, for example, here, the stairways that run the upper floor of the museum. 

We enter the museum where You can look Focault pendulum, a cartoon with last century most famous physician and Nobel winners, just like Einstein and Planck, set like a soccer team, where You can put Your head for a photo with those guys. Here all about physic is showed like a game, from the square wheel to thermic image; there are many models, from Leonardo inventions models to two airplanes, hanged at the roof, there's an America's cup ship and a genoma model, from floor to roof.  really incredible. We play all the experiment games we can. Late in the morning we finish our visit in that place. My intestine doesn't freak out anymore, rather I'm hungry, to walk around and climbing several stairs make me hungry. 

 


Barbara's phone rings. Pedro.

...

<<Are You going in the centre of town, yes>>.

...

<<It’s a pity, we are still in ciudad>>.

Barbara smiles.

<<Move your nose, It’s growing and Pedro will be hit by it through the phone>>. 

...

<<Well, 5.00 in the hall. Bye>>.

<<We can go to the shoreline>>. And we exit, searching for a taxi.

 


The driver is really cool, he's a fan of Major, he calls "L'Alcadessa", a lawyer that brought here America's Cup and next a F1 Grand Prix. He speaks slow so I can even answer and have some question like if he can show us a restaurant, not the usual touristic one, where we can eat a paella as it has to be. He tells the first on the shoreline is the best and that he knows them very well. He leaves the car and takes us inside, asks to call a man and introduce us as his friends. Before he goes I memorize his telephone number for when we will back. The man leads us in a terrace viewing the sea. We order sea starter, paella valenciana and wine, "Pero, blanco, señor": he appreciates my effort to speak Spanish also with Barbara's help. 

 


The starter, made by cooked and fresh fishes, is so great that maybe they're think were waiting for someone, maybe Felipe, the taxi driver.

<<If You have still intestine troubles, stop eating>>. 

I'm keeping salt from the table near ours. 

<<No, really, everything's fine>> and we eat all, cooked and fresh. Wine has 13 degrees, very strong, but is cold, good. Paella arrives in one great paellera with fishes on the rice where You can see meat and vegetables. A waiter fills our dishes, and let us eat this masterpiece. Felipe was great: rice has pimenta colour and the taste in really really nice. In the sea, there's an America's cup ship, sailing faster with its spinnaker inflated by the wind. 

 


When we have to pay, Barbara starts the usual dance, but this time she loses. We go to the beach, 50 meters (56 yards) of smooth grey sand. Hand in hand we arrive near the water, then go towards a hotel in ancient Roman style, with columns and tympanum. Barbara seats on a low wall that divides beach and sidewalk and takes off her shoes to free from sand. I keep a napkin from a pocket. 

<<And this?>>.

<<I think You need it>>.

<<Yes, but where does it come from?>>.

<<The restaurant, when I kept salt, it fell on the floor and I've kept it>>.

<<Ah, ok, it fell and rested stuck in Your hand>>.

<<So, do You think I'm sticky?>>.

<<No, absolutely!>>.

She cleans her feet and gives me be the napkin perfectly folded. 

 


I call Felipe and tell him where we are. We will meet at the restaurant. On the street there's a carnival that's closed, in March, it could happen. I ask Felipe to do a Valencia tour. He tells us what is this and what is that all around the new and the old Valencia. In Plaza de l'Ajuntamiento he stops and we go for a drink, two cervezas and one tea. Guess who drinks the tea. 

 When we arrive at the hotel a bus is right parking and a lot of baggage is waiting on the sidewalk, I promise Felipe to meet him again next time I will be in Valencia. 

 


I think that we have to go from Malpensa to Genova, 131 miles and that we may arrive in Milan at 9.30 pm

<<We didn't think to stay sleeping near the airport>>.

<<Yes, we can always try>>.

<<Barbara, we can stay or go home, I think it’s better we go home and eat something on the way>>.

<<Yes, let's go home>>.

<<All right, we both can drive>>.

 


We wait 90 minutes to have our baggage, It’s awful for an international hub like Malpensa wants to be. I've mistaken to board baggage only after we bought 11 lbs. of Valencia rice that we couldn't put in the cabin. 

We wait also for shuttle to the park area, terrible. The plane is landed at 9.30, we reach that jungle at 11.15 pm It was better to sleep here. We arrive home at 2.35 am, after eating near Milan. 

Tomorrow it will be Sunday. I remember Rossella O'Hara: I'll spare it for You. 

 


  
   PART TWO

ALLEGRO



April, 10th

Today we've worked hard for Fogli's estate. I've to go often to Bergamo to coordinate everything but I like it. It’s my life and I want it to be like this. Mr Fogli had been here for the official presentation at Town Hall, with the Deputy Major to thank this man for his building initiative in our town that the investment was just for town expectations. He forgets that Fogli is from Bergamo, but that’s the way it is. There were all the chiefs of Rosanna department, she was really happy when, in my presentation, I've named her to thanks for the help she gave me in developing the project. I'm usual to do presentation, think, when our Partisan President Sandro Pertini is dead, my Party Secretary asked me to do the eulogy speech during a party congress. I was touched for the honour, and, when the eulogy was over, a main man of the party said to me "You are '68 man of next century" and he congratulated me. I'm at my PC, waiting for election outcome. I'm always interested, before I was a politician, but this time I'm much interested then before. Beside statistics and the passion for the weak ones, my interest is for the memorial, who knows. I was in politicos since 2002, I've learned a lot of dirty and clean think. Maybe I've learned a lot of clean things. Maybe.

This time maybe the left parties will win and this a problem, maybe this victory could become a problem for the tender was a right parties initiative. The only thing that I know as an important one is that some money was spent for tender starting. But it’s a little conviction, even if they can choose the first fifteen. The first impression or right, left parties are winning. 

 


<<Mauro, Govern has lost elections>>.

<<This sure doesn’t make You happy>>. 

My father taught me that I shouldn't have to speak about politics when I was working, I don't even know what Paul, Andrea and Roby think politically. But I know, as Romans said, I think that "pecunia non olet" (money doesn't smell"), so I've never spoke of politics in my job and I've worked with everyone. 

<<I didn't make myself clear. I'd not want them to stop all>>.

<<Don’t tell me they can stop everything about the tender that was a Right Govern initiative?>>.

<<Everything could happen. Don't forget left parties didn't want Italian Army in Iraq>>.

And I don't want it too.

<<You're right, I didn't mind about this. Let's wait for the nomination, then you can call Dc. Cruciani>>.

<<Well, let's do like nothing has change, after all we're only in the first part of the tender>>. But those guys have to have the memorial. 

<<Do You really thing they can stop and delete anything?>>.

<<I don't know, everything is possible, left parties are contrary for war, this is really clear>>.

<<Come on, there such a great opinion movement that this will be crazy>>.

<<That's true but I don't trust the same>>.

<<Well, we only have to wait>>.

<<Bye>>.

He didn't succeed in convincing me, but I don't want to be convinced. Something had to be done, those guys are not of a govern of another one, first of all for the one who lose them, and then they are Italian guys. And I'd like so much if there will be a place to remember them. Sure, if no one had thought to the memorial maybe I shouldn't have this in my mind: now it’s different. I'm in the game, the staff is the best one, and, man, no kind of govern can stop this.

 


April, 25th

The main thing that worries me is that I'm giving to Barbara only my last years, those that could the worst, I'm older than her. And this could a weight she couldn't support. 

 


She did it. We moved my studio, in this long weekend. To enter in my studio, after twelve years and start to leave it had been hard. It was "my studio", I've lived there, slept there, played and eat for some months last three years. I've been with two women, even here, on the sofa. Everyone here said it was "mine", my Excalibur, an Ibanez guitar, with its Fender amplifier in a corner, my CD collection everywhere, my photos on the walls. During packaging I've found even my last college year diary, decorated with draws, even a Frank Zappa handmade portrait, Led Zeppelin (4th album), Yes and Van Der Graaf Generator logos. I've found also "From Big Bang to black holes" by Stephen Hawking. Yes, are You surprised? I’ve read it and I've understand anything!

Barbara and I have packaged everything, Ferrari models and metal airplanes collection. The pictures on the wall, nothing to do with Barbara order, have moved my girlfriend architect., she asked me to take some pictures to repeat the style. I've said her I'm used to send the spikes to the wall and choose the places where they leave a sign. She smiled and said "You are the one and only". I've thrown away some furniture to replace them with someone new, I've thrown away all that has more than five years with no pity. To carry all we've called a Barbara's customer that also dismantled and mounted the main furniture. It was very simple: to stay looking some one's working is very comfortable. 

 


All my pictures had their place on the wall, starting from Eiffel Tower to Vignola Style, from Via Aurea Facade to Beatles handmade portrait, a photo with Paul in Bologna, one with Andrew at the beach and the one with Mauro near memorial model. I've placed my desktop right way entering, with the floor to ceiling windows on my right hand. Excalibur in the left entering corner. The guys had placed shelves and we placed Ferrari and airplanes: Barbara collected all papers in a plastic bag to recycle it. Our PC reach soon Barbara studio lan and so for both plotter and printers. Now I've two plotters and six printers to use. Barbara too. Now I've to check only my enclosures. A short search and I decide it is “Layla” time, in all version I have. I can hear over 3500 files, but I decide it’s “Layla” time. Barbara comes in and tells me she knows the song.

<<Do You know Pattie Boyd story?>>.

<<I know it>>. 

 


I'm sure: to play guitar is and will be the dream of my life. I've played with great guitar men and a great musicians, Vincenzo, in Taranto, he’s still a great flute and sax player. Paul was my first teacher and still we play together and we've written a song. Actually, I can hang my tennis racket to a nail, my guitar I can't. We had grown with the great music ever, we went to concert to look at our myths. We play hard. Today You can see a myth on DVD or TV too, download music that we don't have. We have vinyl 33 and 45 records, today You don't even see from where the music comes out: it’s on Your hard disk, on Your iPod even on Your phone! But, can You imagine our evenings around a fire with one or two guitars playing? I can't imagine this today. My son Junior in one year had learned to pay guitar and started teaching. I've checked his DNA: twenty two of his twenty three male chromosomes come from my father and one from me: the music chromosome. This explains also his school career. 

 


I tell Paul, Andrea and Roby about the moving. Roby asks me about Barbara, I've never speak about her before.

Late in the evening we complete all and we go to Quartiere Azzurro in Nervi to my friend Edo for a pizza, the best in town. I've been here since 1976 and Edo never had made a mistake. Once I asked for a bad pizza, he told he couldn't, to change restaurant. 

 


 April, 26th

Barbara spreads herself on all the bed, I'm in a corner. 

<<I've to check something, maybe I've a surprise for you>>.

<<Help me>>.

<<Stop, it isn't hard>>.

She turns and places on me.

<<It is a serious thing but I'd really like>>.

I don't really understand, but to what she wants to do soon I like, so much.

 


In new studio, Luigi has become soon friends with Barbara's staff. She enters in my room and with a theatrical act and a curtsy she asks me to enter. 

<<Please, Architect Farni, enter>>.

I seat at my desktop and she takes a chair in front of me and seats crossing her legs. 

<<How is it?>>.

<<I'm learning. You know, after twelve years it has been hard to leave Rimassa St., here is another world>>.

<<Do You miss something?>>.

<<No, I've all I need. There are only some memories, but I'll delete them all>>.

<<Maybe it will take a lot of time>>.

<<That will be good, they will go away forever>>. 

<<Well, I'll go to see my staff, after in my studio>>: a kiss and she goes.

I look around: everything is mine, everything will be mine at all. I’m alone again.

 


Around noon, Barbara comes in.

<<Do I bother You>> and she seats. 

<<Yes>>.

<<Do You want me to hit You?>>.

<<Sure! Come on, tell me>>.

<<I receive a lot of mail for show tickets and take a look>>.

She gives me some sheets. Two tickets for Lucca Summer festival, Napoleon Sq., July 7th, Eric Clapton's tour. Andrea's birthday is the day before. 

 


An Eric Clapton concert is a dream, in Italy it’s really a dream. I've only to find the way to respect Andrea birthday and this great gift. Eric is Eric, but Andrea, Paul and Roby come before everything, for Eric I've to understand how to do. Anyway I'd like to hug Barbara, but I don't know if we can, in her studio.

I get up looking the tickets, she comes close to me, and we hug and kiss.

<<What can I say?>>.

<<You always don't know what to say, but the expression of Your eyes is enough. Did You ever had been at his concert?>>.

<<No, never, but I have to search how to know where and when he plays>>.

<<Well, find a hotel and everything's going to be good>>.

And Andrea?

<<Yes, I will find it. You don't know Andrea's birthday is in July, 50 years and we had to be in Bari>>.

<<And so?>>.

<<And so, the birthday is July 6th, so we go together to Bari, then we come back and reach Lucca>>.

<<You're crazy>>.

<<Why? The only problem is to book in Lucca, for Bari we have no problem. I call him then I tell You. Free yourself>>: she smiles. 

<<It’s April, I can do it. What do you plan?>>.

If You make this question to Paul it will be an earthquake and he'll answer kindly “later, now I don't know”.

<<Barbara, I don't know, I've to find a roundtrip flight to Bari and a hotel in Lucca. Andrea is a friend, he invited me last month and 50 years is a great birthday. Give me an hour and I'll find all, before I call Andrea>>.

<<To eat, does it worry you?>>.

<<An hour, give me one hour and we eat, here on my desktop>>.

<<I'll keep something in a deli near here. Give me the car keys>>.

 


<<Hello, Old mate>>: that’s the name Andrea gave me. 

<<Hello, Young Shoot, how are You?>>.

<<It depends on what You're saying to me>>.

<<I tell you we will be there>>.

<<Great! How long>>.

<<I've something developing, we arrive on 5th and leave on 7th>>. 

<<Only two days?>>.

<<When you will know what's developing you'll understand>>.

<<You said "we will be there", so I think You will come here not alone?>>.

<<Yes, Barbara will be there>>.

<<And who is Barbara?>>.

<<She's an architect, I knew her since college times>>.

<<Don't begin telling dates and time!>>.

<<No, sure. I'll find the flight and then I call You>>.

<<Come on, don't joke>>.

<<Bye>>.

 


 When Barbara opens the door with a tray in her hand and a bag in the other I've found anything. Flight roundtrip to Bari and hotel in Lucca. I've called Andrea and he was really very happy.

<<You have done everything. And if I can't?>>.

<<Do You want me to hit You?>>.

<<This I've hear before>>.

<<There's something new: on July 7th we go in Siena to eat at a friend of Paul and mine, then we reach Lucca, Saturday beach in Versilia>>.

She looks me. 

<<Andrea?>>.

<<He knows all than the concert. He will understand that Eric in Lucca maybe the only one and last occasion to see him playing live in Italy. I can't really imagine it yet>>.

<<This is a nice way to thank. And you really like Eric Clapton>>.

<<Really, but I never had been at a concert. I've been at a lot of concert, but Eric never. Then in Lucca an ice city so close to Genova>>. 

<<Have you ever been there?>>.

<<Yes, only for job>>.

<<Well>> and she blinks. 

 


We go for throw the garbage and I light a cigarette. 

<<If we go to the second part of the tender I'll stop smoking>>.

<<I want to believe You>>.

 In my studio, I check all Eric's CD in my collection with a complete discography. I don't have all, but I want to complete my discography and I go on Amazon: I buy thirteen CD. I'll complete with Blind Faith, Bonnie and Delaney and wonderful Derek and the Dominoes. Then I work on Calolziocorte building for my society. For today emotions had been enough. 

 


In the evening we eat at home, and with a little fear I look at Barcellona-Inter soccer game in Champions League. Inter is my favourite soccer team, after Samp and together with Naples.

 


April, 27th

<<Luciano called me>>.

She entered in my studio without knocking. 

Barbara looks she's worry, I've seen already her face in this way. Luciano was her ex-husband. They divide for job troubles. 

<<I've called Paul, Andrea and Roby for tell them about here>>.

<<Who's Roby?>>.

<<A girl friend of mine, since college time>>.

<<Don't change the subject, it’s not the same. Luciano called me for a job>>.

<<And then?>>.

<<I've to answer>>.

<<And then?>>.

<<Do I accept>>

<<Do You decide?>>.

I worked with those guys, for security and maintenance plan for a job in Arenzano. I had two weeks to give up and I gave up in ten days. He checked everything, security and maintenance. Then he asked me for the fee and he paid soon. So I don't have really anything against that man, he seems a normal guy. I don't have anything more to judge him, sure I don't live Barbara's job troubles.

<<Can I decide?>>.

<<Let's accept>> and she smiles. 

<<You don't know for what, You don't ask why>>.

<<It’s not my problem. If he called You he knows very well why>>.

I look in her eyes: maybe she thought I tell her to say no to this job, but I think that to say no for a job, every job is a mistake. Paul says everything you leave is lost and I had learn that if don't know how to do something I search how to learn to do it and I always say yes, from the card to the skyscraper, and now I have the way really to do all, with my engineer society. 

<<I'm an environment impact assessment expert and he needs one for a project in Rieti>>.

Environment impact assessment is e scientific simulation of the effects of an intervention on environment, with many data to value and many ways to check. 

<<I've done a simulation, to learn how I've bought three books that after I gave to one friend of mine, Anna Parodi>>.

<<Another woman as friend?>>.

<<Don't get muzzy by my long hair. I'm old fashioned>>.

<<You have a lot of women as friends>>.

<<I've just been counting up how many Anna I've known: 32>>.

<<Be careful, I'm old fashioned too. Although I've closed with marriage>>.

I have one less problem. 

<<He called me for these are burdensome jobs, and he knows the way I work>>.

<<And so he will pay less than usual>>.

<<No, not for money, they are burdensome for You have to do and to study to develop an E.I.A.!>>. Butler tells I've a new mail.

<<Farni, I can deny yet>>.

<<No, don't deny, not for me>>.

<<Thank You, I care about your opinion and that job. And if he makes me mad like five years ago?>>.

<<Maybe he is changed, who knows?>>.

<<Maybe he is still a shit>>.

<<All right, but in the evening You will not meet him, has the problem been there?>>.

<<If he pisses me off I'll think of you>>.

<<Oh, thank You!>>.

<<Lovely fool, I'm saying that I'll go away and meet You>>.

<<Wait a minute: You'll work in his Studio?>>.

I don't mind about this.

<<Yes, at least half a day, there are a lot of papers and files I have to read, it’s stupid to move them>>. At least, half day>>. 

<<Morning or afternoon>>.

<<I've to decide>>.

<<Morning, so You have all the afternoon free to forget everything>>.

She lowers her eyes.

<<Are You sure?>>.

<<Where is his studio?>>.

<<Albaro>>.

<<Albaro?>>.

<<In Albaro St., on the left, the first building after the turn>>.

<<And maybe fourth floor>>.

Genova is small, I was there since 1990 to 1995, five rooms, kitchen, two bathrooms, before Rimassa St.

<<And how did You know?>>.

<<I was there till eleven years ago, I had two rooms with my ex-partner, Laura Lavagetto, her husband, an engineer from Recco and other guys. We left after five years, at the end of the lease>>.

<<Genova is small>>.

<<Genova is even too small. I beg he is in a corner room with a window and a balcony>>.

<<Yes, but do You know Luciano?>>.

I tell her about the job I did in 1998.

<<A friend of mine from Bergamo should identify him as a shit thrower>>.

<<What?>>.

<<Yes, one that with style, prettiness and elegance, shows You, even if You have the same degree or the same level, that he is superior and he treats you as if You were inferior>>.

<<And how would it take you to get this point of view?>>.

<<I've meet him four five times, three times for that jig, maybe two hours, a little more>>.

<<I've spent four years>>.

I smile and blink.

<<How long does this task last?>>.

<<Daily, we have to give up in the middle of May>>.

<<Well, everything is fine, call him and make the deal>>.

She gets up and kisses me.

<<Thank you>>.

 


The mail is from Calolziocorte customer who asks me to give up not over 1.00 pm: I answer it will be and send him fee proposal and bank account details. Luckily, I've almost finish. To print, read to review lasts all morning through. I send a closed file: customer can read but not print and he knows. After I've seen credit transfer, he will print. He is a serious one.

 


I call tender secretary but they don't know anything about first part outcome. I update Mauro. 

 


Early in the afternoon there's a mail from my customer: the credit transfer. I answer with password to print, but not to modify, I thank and send the fee. The rest of the afternoon, Luigi shows the draw of a work, a new psychiatric department in Galliera Hospital in Carignano district. We have to check if there's any interference between all the projects, architectural and plant designs. To work in staff is always that says: everyone has his job and the coordinator checks all. 

 


Toward evening, Barbara knocks the door and enters, she's radiant. 

<<I've talked with Luciano, we agree about all>>.

<<Very nice, we have to celebrate and I'll take You out for dinner>>.

<<Oh yes! We have to go a home, I've to change my dresses>>.

Of course.

<<If You're busy, I'm going home and come back to pick you up>>. 

<<Yes, this is the best way, I will book>>.

Really, we have to finish the check of interferences and then we have to send results to our partners in Bergamo to update everything. Then the entire folder will go to Health Ministry in Rome for the financing. 

 


Genova, for restaurant is not the first one. Every time I have some troubles to suggest a restaurant for someone or to book, Edo is out of this problem. But tonight it has to be special, for Barbara, she's very happy. 

I choose an old restaurant near the sea, with glass walls with tables through the sea and I ask a table there.

 


Barbara wears a mauve dress, hair in a ponytail and no makeup. Our table is close to the glass wall, facing the sea, where the moon writes his wake on the waves. The restaurant is almost full, there's no noise. We eat fish and meat with a Trentino scented white wine that Barbara didn't know. To close I drink a smooth and pity whisky and Barbara a warm Porto.

On the way home she asks me if I've seen "Bridget Jones's Diary".

 


April, 28th

Today I'll go in Bolzaneto for Galliera job and I keep Ginevra my car. Barbara is spreads in the bed, still sleepy, for tonight we've been very close.

<<When You're there, please, turn on my PC, I’ve to make a rendering and if You call me I tell what You have to do>>.

<<Think like it’s already done>>: a kiss and I go, after checking for keys, money and cigarettes. 

The day is wonderful and I think that life does it on purpose. After this night, today couldn't star better. 

 


It’s fantastic: I reach the office in ten minutes, the river of traffic goes in the other direction, on my one there's almost no one. Luigi brings some coffee and the draws for today. 

My phone rings, unknown number.

<<Hello?>>.

<<Good morning, I'm Parodi>>.

<<Parodi?>>.

<<Yes, lawyer Parodi, Filippo Parodi. I've called You for Finelli-Scalzone trial>>.

I don't know what it is, really.

<<Are You sure You get the right number?>>.

<<Sure>>.

<<Who are You looking for?>>.

<<You. The first meeting will be today in my office, in the afternoon, 5.00 pm>>.

<<Mr Parodi, the number You call...>>.

<<This number is Your number, It’s on my phone, how can I have mistaken?>>.

It can't be faulted. 

<<Tell me>>.

<<Nothing, let's meet in my studio at 5.00 and don't forget the survey of the places>>.

<<Of course, don't worry>>.

<<I'm worry, the victory of the lawsuit is hanging by a thread!>>.

<<Also the defeat>>.

<<Please, don't joke! Your opponent has a great lawsuit experience!>>.

<<I know the expert witness, I had him in another lawsuit>>.

<<That’s great! What do You think about?>>.

<<That I gave him my evaluation so he could write his one and we won>>.

<<That's better. I'll wait for you>>.

<<See You later, bye>>.

I look at my phone, it’s amazing. When Filippo Parodi will realized what we've done maybe he will take out, but he was so sure that I can't stop going along.

 


<<Luigi, I've to go to Barbara's for starting a job, please put the stamp on the draws>>.

<<Don't worry>.

 


I turn on the PC and call Miss Greco. She tells me user and password, which software she uses and what I've to do. While the PC Is starting, I look around her room and I have an idea. 

 


When I was in Novosibirsk, June 2003, the schedule brought us to visit a hotel, in front of the railway station. A colleague led us to the last floor to visit one room that was really completed and asked us to take off our shoes to enter. I said thanks and preferred to go to the terrace to take some pictures of the landscape. The vision was really gorgeous: thousand miles of plain until to North Pole from that point of view. Even sky and clouds seemed to be different than ours. 

When I came back, I saw all the shoes, on the carpet, in front of the door. The door was closed and in a while I planned. I began to mix the pairs, carefully looking to male and female shoes to be mixed well, two different colours, two different models, and a nice mix. Then I came back to the window, looking once again that endless landscape. 

The door opened and 14 men and 4 women, 3 Siberians and 15 Italian went out. What I heard is an astonished silence. Little by little, someone started smiling and searching for his couple of shoes, then a deep voice went out from my president and partner.

<<Only Graziano could think and do something like this>>.

Barbara knocks at the door, Luigi is just gone away with the signed draws. Barbara has a tray with two coffees. 

<<Tonight I had a dream, I was doing something by hand and after a while You were there, a You were the dream>>.

I take a look from the head to the shoes. If someone tells me I don't deserve her, I'd agree.

<<Nothing to say>>.

<<Nothing to say, from now one You're my only dream come through>>. 

I smile and she blinks backward the cup, while in her room.

When we finished, she goes in her room. When she closes the door, I stand waiting for a howl. Be sure, what she will see is terrible. Everything is opened: drawers, shutters, even some books on meeting table. I think that if Luigi would come soon, we can go away. Help me!

She doesn't knock, she comes in and put her hands on her hips, the face turned red and her mouth turned in a smile. 

<<Tell me that You’re real, that You are not an avatar and that You're real>>.

<<I don't understand>>.

<<Don't joke: a normal person couldn't think such a thing!>>.

<<Come on, don't worry>>.

<<It’s cool, believe me! It’s wonderful and wonderful is not enough>>.

<<And I didn't find something to put on the door>>.

<<What do You mean?>>.

<<I mean something that I could put on the door so it can fall when You opened>>.

She seats and puts her head in his hands and starts smiling.

<<Oh yes, You were really unlucky>>.

<<I don't think so: I'm lucky enough. On main things, like sons, love friends I'm very lucky, in other not so well>>.

<<It seems me great. Are You happy?>>.

<<I don't think, I'm calm, I'm happy in certain moments>>.

<<Well, I'll try to make You happy. For now, let's come and close everything in my room>>.

<<Absolutely no, we can't even speak about this, and if I'll close in a wrong way? Forget it>>. 

<<All right, Farni. But wait for my revenge>>.

I haven't so much to open and because I can't imagine what she could do I don't mind at all. 

<<Come, let's make peace>>.

<<I really don't think about it, I'm not hungry. It’s very cool, I don't ever see it coming>>.

I tell her about Novosibirsk joke.

<<Your president was right, there isn't someone else who could only think two things like this. And I'm sure You don't think about, You extemporize, everything comes and You act>>. 

<<I catch the moment>>.

<<Listen, Latin poet, today I'll be at Luciano's studio, about what time You'll be back?>>.

I really can't stand two questions in a row, I get crazy.

<<We start at 2.30 pm, in Trasta, then I'll be back here, may I can keep You>>.

<<Ill finish not before 6.30>>.

<<I'll call You' not before a couple of hours>>.

<<Well, and tonight? Where and what do we eat?>>: again, two questions together.

<<For now! In the bar! downstairs. Tonight, home or restaurant? Pizza at home or at Edo?>>. Here it is, four questions in row!

<<We stay home, hear You in the afternoon. Bye>>.

 


I go to Trasta. Meeting lasts a little more for we have to wait all the staff and we discuss everything and to show what they have to do and give up as we agree. I've finished. Only a problem, I see myself to give up in Rome, I'm almost sure that like coordinator will be my job. For one that doesn't love so much the son said Eternal City, the fourth time there in a short time is enough. But I've to go, I'm the coordinator, for Goddess sake. When I call Barbara she says that it takes an hour still. I said I'll wait her in Albaro street and that I'll go in the market and she suggests me some things to buy. 

 


May, 2nd

These two long weekends in April and May are very good. I'm not a man who "needs holiday" at all. For three years in a row I've never done any summer vacations for too much job and I went on the beach only on Saturday and Sunday, near home, at Europe Beach. I'm anyway sure that every month should have a long weekend. I think this could be good for a lot of people. Three days home, with a hot sun on terrace with Barbara using upper piece of her bathing trunk only when she gets up from the tanning bed. She uses different sunscreens, that I hate, especially those which are sprained in the air. and that I've never used, even when I went to the beach in Castellaneta. After 21 years of vacation there I don't need any sunscreen.

We go to work with Barbara's car, she has to bring something to Luciano's and so she will go there by car. In the afternoon she has another business in Recco. I hope she will not be late: it’s only since few days, but I don't like this story, yet.

 


Luigi tells me that my President wants me to give up the Galliera project inside next week. I call Trasta partner and ask them their job inside May, 5th, so I can review all. I remember them which are the procedures of Health Minister and to look for the list of documents to prepare. They don't know I could give them more time, but I want to be sure to have my time to do my work. Luigi tells me he will keep ministry check list and do a check for us. As I thought I've to go to Rome. Since 1968 I was there only four times and two of these were roundtrip in a day. You know, six times in 38 years and two since February 24th. This time is a different one: after giving up I can go to tender area. 

Luigi's review is devastatingly: draws are ready, but the mass of papers for validation is a mountain to climb. A part for Galliera and another for Ministry. Luigi choose Galliera papers and I have to choose Ministry procedures. We decide to finish inside Friday when we will have Trasta papers so we are till next Thursday to complete. 

 


It’s late in the afternoon when my phone plays WT and I last to hear and to look Barbara's eyes on the screen. 

<<Hello, Farni, I'm ready. Can I come to keep You?>>.

<<No, I'll have a taxicab>>.

<<Come! Listen: Luciano invited me for dinner to talk about our job. I've said that we will together and he turned his nose up and said he will come with his girlfriend>>.

What a great news, do You know how much I'll amuse?

<<For pity's sake, and why did he turn up his no Sense?>>.

<<I don't know, sure I'll never ever go alone, either if someone will tie me>>.

If he really wants to talk about the job he could do it in his office. 

<<Well, and when do we have this party?>>.

<<Friday evening, in a Japanese restaurant in Nervi. Do You know that cuisine?>>.

I don't like all that is at East from Trieste and Otranto, except for Athens, Novosibirsk and Mosca. 

<<I've ate only Chinese cuisine in my life, and in Algeri. The main food is fresh fish or am I wrong?>>.

<<No, that's right, it’s called sushi that is a very good restaurant, clean, very popular and quite used>>.

<<Well, Friday I'll be late, don't book too early>>.

<<It’s a matter of Luciano, not mine. What do You have to do?>>.

<<I've to complete a global review for a hospital project that we have to give in Rome next Friday>>.

<<And can't You delay a couple of day?>>.

<<Barbara, this is a short week, I've to check other documents to arrive also in Friday to complete the validation. And next week, check lists, boxes, draws and I don't want to last the last minute. And maybe we will know something about the end of the tender>>.

<<Come on, the tender. Who knows how long they will take to decide>>.

<<I don't know, but it’s a chance, anyway, tell him we accept>>.

<<I'll call when I'll be at the beginning of Commercio Av., don't do as usual, get down soon and happy holiday!>>.

May 2nd? What a holiday?

<<I kiss You>>.

<<Kiss>>.

<<Laconic>>.

<<I love you. Come on, let's move>>.

It’s gone away, I've said but it’s gone away.

<<Hey, Farni, I almost hit the car in front of me! You have said, Farni, You have said it!>>.

She realized. 

<<Have You seen? Tonight we're going to have a party>>.

 


Twenty minutes later we are in her car going to Chighizola. On the back seat there's a butchery bag. 

<<This evening barbecue, I've bought various meat and sausage. We have only to buy some coal>>.

<<Do something have happened, I've forgot something else?>>.

<<No, nothing has to happen to have a party, sure. I'd like to have a party and that's' enough>> and she blinks.

Barbara keeps a great portable barbecue form a room on the terrace then she leaves me the field free to cook.

<<Farni, I'll have a shower. Get busy with this barbecue>>.

<<Go and I'll set the table>>.

It’s a warm evening, a nice Genova evening in May. I spread the coal and cover it with a proper accelerant, then I light all with a match. I've been always fascinated by fire, and I stay looking it for a few minutes, then I go to set the table, with candlesticks. There's a wood table on the terrace, I choose it. "Motherless children" spreads in the air.

 


<<Graziano, you do really know what a party is! Candlesticks, lighted candles!>>.

Barbara arrives dressed with a light blue bathrobe that I'm sure is the only obstacle to the party she has in her mind. Wet hair is taped to her face and she moves them with the hands. 

<<If You stay here, I go for a shower too>>.

<<What do I have to do?>>.

<<Oh, nothing, a few minute and coal is ready. Dry Your hair>>.

<<I'll follow you in the bathroom>>.

<<Nice>>.

 


She keeps the hair drier and I go into the shower. Soon stereo and Barbara start to sing "Wonderful Tonight" and we're gonna have a party, is it real, David Bowie?

 


I'd like so much cooking and eating at barbecue, It’s really a very good way for cooking. You've only to wait the coal to become red without any fire and nature will do the rest. Barbara is seated by my side, sometimes she takes my hand and holds it tight. We eat all, with a light red wine. Barbara is gorgeous, she smiles.

And Friday Japanese restaurant. Help me.

 


After dinner the party begins, really.

 


May, 5th

I have prepared myself for tonight dinner doing nothing. We reach Nervi with my Peugeot. Luciano and his girlfriend are waiting outside the restaurant. The girl is a knockout, higher then Barbara, with her 1,66 meters (5 feet 7 inches), blond hair, bright eyes, dizzying blue skirt, grey jacket and obviously high heeled shoes. She wasn't here during '68, she looks under thirty. Luciano introduces her as Antonella and her voice is like a stoned bell. Barbara has a long look to the girl, while she's waving Luciano. 

 


After usual small talks, we enter the restaurant. The location is silent, there's only the slow noise of the customers already at their tables. Two men from Japan (I hope they come from Japan) are preparing sushi and sashimi. Antonella is in front of me, Barbara at my side, Luciano in front of her. Our table let us look at beautiful Anita Garibaldi walkway.

 


With menu in our hand, Luciano likes to explain the difference between sushi and sashimi and other Japanese food. On table there are dishes, glasses, chopsticks. I'm saved: there is cutlery too.

<<That's great, Graziano, You like cooked fish!>>. I choose shrimps salad, tuna and salmon sushi. And Japanese beer, the worst I can do. Antonella apologizes and goes to the bathroom and someone turns to see her. In this moment I wouldn't get up even if I could see Diane Keaton or Julie Andrews. 

<<And so, Barbara, how do You think the work is developing?>> and here the mistake. Luciano puts his hand on Barbara's hand. She looks at him with her eyes wide opened and takes off it at the speed of light like the hand was on fire. Her look is like ice, if she could she likes to strike him with a lightning. She put her hands under the table and her leg touches my one. But she really wants to burn Luciano down.

<<It’s going really well, maybe we can finish earlier>>.

<<Well, very well>>, just like nothing's has happened.

 


Antonella and our dishes come together at our table. Atmosphere is not the shame, but I don't mind and Antonella doesn't mind at all. We eat, I eat without using chopsticks and I'm the only one. This fool will organize next dinner with his beanpole female. Alone. After dinner we we've very quickly, without any "see You again".

 


<<Only one thing: tell me about Luciano, only when You have to say mine is dead>>.

<<What a face that man has put! And everything only and when that one wasn't there! That coward! Incredible>>.

<<Stop, don't think any more about that! Next time he will eat alone>.

 


When we leave the car, Barbara keeps my arms and lay her head on my shoulder like she had to apologize.

 


May, 6th

We have breakfast in a bar in Quinto's Bagnara. No one is around, above all, there are not hurry and frenzy of the week days. Yesterday was great: Luigi and I can check everything we made was right for the check list of Galliera and Ministry, we print all the papers from Trasta and next week we compete all. Today is "Order day", sometimes it happens to me too. Barbara has to render something for E.I.A.

 


<<Graziano!>>.

Barbara's hand is pointed to the office door where there are some storage signs and I seemed damaged near the lock. I act tough, only to calm Barbara. 

<<Stay here, don't move>> and I lean my hand on the door that's closed. I keep other key and put in the lock. 

<<I'll call police>>.

<<Shut up!>>, but I'm sure no one is inside. 

<<Where are You going, stop!>> and I ask her with a finger to be silent. I move very only just like in a TV movie and open the door. Inside everything is fine, doors are all closed and the monitor of secretary is not there where it should have to be. I'm sure no one is there. Barbara has wonderful pale colour. 

<<Come in, there's no one here>>.

Barbara takes a look around then runs to her room. The usual order, everything in his place, monitors and PC too. Nothing is opened. 

<<It’s better that when You have opened all. Everything is here, there was nothing of any value>>.

The staff room has an armchair on the floor and two monitors are flown away. 

Marcella's chest of drawers is wide opened, from the door it’s impossible to see it. 

I go to my room. I'm just concerned for Excalibur and my PC, all that I have, models and CD, can be bought back just like the whole rest. The things of value, bracelets and two necklaces I'm wearing. The room is in its usual primordial disorder. Excalibur is on its perch and CD and monitor in their places. Maybe the thieves were two: one of them looking in my room maybe Dan thought the other had already been looking for something to steal. 

Barbara has taken Marcella's place, she's calling with the phone.

<<They had stolen that cash, 500€>>.

<<What do you do with 500€ cash in drawer?>>.

<<We're at the beginning of the month it’s the usual endowment>>.

<<Your room>>.

<<Everything is in its place. I think that thieves were two. One of them had seen how the state of my room and maybe he had thought the other has already looked for something to steal and let it go>>.

<<Lovely fool. Let's go to printers room>>, where maybe they could steal only paper.

 


My phone rings, Maestro's calling. 

<<Hello, Graziano, how are you>>.

It’s a strange call, the first at all.

<<I'm fine, and You?>>.

<<Very well. I've received a fax from Rome: I don't understand. I'll send You if You can>>.

<<Come on, I'm in my office I'll read it soon. I'll call you back>>.

<<It was Maestro for the tender?>>.

<<I don't know any other>>.

While I keep the fax, Barbara opens to police men and leads them around.

Fax is from Comune Di Rome, tender secretary. 

It informs us that, for we are in the best fifteen groups we have to give up the definite project inside June 19. 

I can feel my heart beat 300 hits a minute. 

I go to Barbara and the police men. 

<<What is the matter?>>.

<<I'll tell You later>>.

<<You are pale!>>.

<<Sometimes happens>>. 

 


Police men asks us many question about the door, if you are can give them a list of what has been stolen and if alarm was turned on. Which alarm?

<<Try to install one alarm. What's Your job?>>.

<<Architecture and urbanism>>.

<<Well, let’s start with reliefs>>: the captain seems annoyed for our answer, he wears clothes and they start. 

<<Come in Your room>>.

 


<<Can I know what the matter with you is? You were so sure entering, is it that you are afraid?>>.

I give her the fax. 

<<FARNIIIIIIII!!!>>.

Her face has all the light that the sun spread in my office on. I hug her and lift her from the floor., while my eyes are almost ready to cry.

She puts her eyes in mine.

<<Farni, don't do foolishness>>.

I'm looking to find somewhere a smile, the thought of those guys doesn't let me find it. Barbara caresses my face and dries some tears, true tears and those I've inside. 

<<And You didn't say this to me>>.

<<It wasn't the moment>>.

<<Call Mauro>>.

<<Before I've to call Maestro>>.

 


<<We are in the second part of the tender, we are in the first fifteen in 158 groups>>.

<<And now, what will I have to do?>>.

<<Nothing. We have to prepare all the paper that the tender has listed in and I've only to know something about your sculpture technology. May we meet?>>.

<<Sure, in my office, if You like>>.

<<Thank You so much, I call Mauro and all the other guys>>.

<<Do You call arena too?>>.

<<Yes. May we meet in 14 days, this next weekend I've been in Rome for another work>>.

<<All right, let me know. Good Sunday!>>.

<<Bye>>.

 


I look at my phone. I believe it. I'm not able to believe it’s not true. First I wanted to be one of those who were in the tender, now I'm in the best fifteen, I've beaten 143 groups. And we win 6000€, that a shame!

I send the fax to Mauro office, then I call him. 

<<Mauro, are You in the studio?>>.

<<Hey, Man! No, I'm just opening the door. What is happening?>>.

<<There's a fax, go and read>>.

<<I'm in, wait a minute>>.

I hear the noise of a paper kept in hand. 

<<Damn!!!>>.

<<Well, I hope You said something better!>>.

<<It’s incredible, You were right>>.

My prophecy has come true. It’s the first and also it will be the last. 

I tell him about the steal and he says that he will call all the others that I've to do.

Now there are five police men, all dressed in white with white overalls, covered shoes and bonnets. Who knows why in American movies they dress normal. I go in my room: there's nothing at all to discover, but they already have relieved. 

 


<<They are going away. What are You doing?>>.

<<I've read the tender and checked the law for the second part to prepare a list of what to do and who will do it>>.

<<And do You have to this now?>>.

<<No, I can do it later. What is in Your mind?>>. 

<<In this moment nothing, I'm waiting that police will go away>> and she keeps my hand.

Police men are in meeting room.

<<We've finished. I think that money and objects had already been used for something wrong>> and I hope they would be so strong to make them feel very bad.

<<We have all, we have only to take Your digital imprints>>.

I don't even think to do it.

<<Yes, please, I'm ready, then Architect Farni>>.

They have a scanner: Barbara puts very finger on a screen, a light reads and the finger appears on a laptop monitor. 

<<Well, it’s all, as soon as we discover something, we will call you>>.

Sure, and maybe I'll play in concert with Eric Clapton, Paul McCartney and my friend Paul, we will search a drummer. 

<<We have to call a blacksmith>>.

<<Now?>>.

<<Yes, it’s better to call him soon. Monday You can call for the alarm, but the lock had to be changed soon>>.

<<I know one, I'll call him>>.

 


I'm in my room, trying to put everything in his place, when Barbara comes in.

<<He will be here in the afternoon, we eat here, follow me>>.

 


In her room, she puts away her blouse and leans at her desktop and calls me spreading her arms. The blacksmith will arrive in the afternoon. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 


Tomorrow it will be Sunday. I remember again Rossella O'Hara: also this time, I'll spare it for You.
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